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HARBOUR-LINK GROUP Established in 2002, Harbour-Link Group Berhad was
officially listed on the Main Board of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on 6 January
2004. With its roots firmly planted in the early days of freight-forwarding and
shipping industry in Sarawak, East Malaysia, Harbour-Link Group is currently an
established Total Logistics Provider as well as a reputed Engineering, Procurement
and Construction entity.

The Group’s multi disciplinary industry expertise and comprehensive range of
services are realised through its wholly owned subsidiaries:

• Harbour-Link (M) Sdn.Bhd. (222555-H)

• Harbour Agencies (Sarawak) Sdn.Bhd. (461102-P)

• Eastern Soldar Engineering & Construction Sdn.Bhd. (153971-K)

• Harbour-Link Navigation Sdn.Bhd. (678560-X)

• Harbour-Link Lines Sdn.Bhd. (738254-T)

Harbour-Link Group Berhad’s success and leadership position lies in its strong
30 years foundational industry expertise and its ability to fulfil its clients’ needs
through a broad spectrum of integrated logistics and supply chain services across
the intra-Asian region.The Group has an issued and paid-up capital of RM182 million
and currently employs 942 people nationwide.
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contents

...we believe that our
success is hinged on our
customers’ total
satisfaction.

...we believe that our
people are the foundation
of our existence and will
do their best when their
contributions are
acknowledged.

...we believe that our
ability to innovate
energises our growth and
provides opportunities to
serve our people and
customers.
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corporate information

BOARD OFDIRECTORS

Yong Piaw Soon Group Managing Director

Dato Sri Celestine Ujang AK Jilan (appointed on 08.09.2008) Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato’Mohamed Salleh bin Bajuri Independent Non-Executive Director

Wong Siong Seh Executive Director

Toh Guan Seng Executive Director

Lee Seng Chiong Executive Director

Hii KwongWui Executive Director

Lau Sii Hin Executive Director

Tuan Hj Alias@ Awg Alias bin Timbang Independent Non-Executive Director

Sie Shwee Ing Independent Non-Executive Director
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COMPANYSECRETARIES

Lim Seck Wah (MAICSA 0799845)
M. Chandrasegaran A/L S. Murugasu
(MAICSA 0781031)

REGISTERED OFFICE

Wisma Harbour
Parkcity Commerce Square
Jalan Tun Ahmad Zaidi
97000 Bintulu, Sarawak
e-mail: bintulu@harbour.com.my

REGISTRARS

Mega Corporate Services Sdn. Bhd.
Level 15-2, Faber Imperial Court
Jalan Sultan Ismail
50250 Kuala Lumpur
Tel: (03) 2692 4271
Fax: (03) 2732 5388
e-mail: info@megacorp.com.my

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Dato’ Mohamed Salleh bin Bajuri
(appointed as member on 25.08.08 and
Chairman on 08.09.08)
Chairman,
Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato Sri Celestine Ujang AK Jilan
(appointed on 08.09.2008)
Member,
Independent Non-Executive Director

Sie Shwee Ing
Member,
Independent Non-Executive Director

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Dato’ Mohamed Salleh bin Bajuri
Chairman,
Independent Non-Executive Director

Sie Shwee Ing
(appointed on 25.08.08)
Member,
Independent Non-Executive Director

Yong Piaw Soon
Member,
Group Managing Director

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Sie Shwee Ing
(appointed as member on 25.08.08 and
Chairman on 08.09.08)
Chairman,
Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato’ Mohamed Salleh bin Bajuri
Member,
Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato Sri Celestine Ujang AK Jilan
(appointed on 08.09.2008)
Member,
Independent Non-Executive Director

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young
Chartered Accountants
113-115, 1st Floor, Lot 3401
Parkcity Commerce Square
Jalan Tun Ahmad Zaidi
97000 Bintulu, Sarawak

PRINCIPALBANKERS

Malayan Banking Berhad
AmBank Berhad
Hong Leong Bank Berhad
United Overseas Bank (Malaysia)
Bhd
CIMB Bank Berhad

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

Main Board of the Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad
Stock Name : HARBOUR
Stock Code : 2062
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board of directors

1. Yong Piaw Soon (Group Managing Director)
2. Dato Sri Celestine Ujang AK Jilan (Independent Non-Executive Director)
3. Dato’Mohamed Salleh Bin Bajuri (Independent Non-Executive Director)
4. Wong Siong Seh (Executive Director)
5. Toh Guan Seng (Executive Director)
6. Lee Seng Chiong (Executive Director)
7. Hii Kwong Wui (Executive Director)
8. Lau Sii Hin (Executive Director)
9. Tuan Hj Alias @ Awg Alias Bin Timbang (Independent Non-Executive Director)
10. Sie Shwee Ing (Independent Non-Executive Director)

1 34 2
5 67

89 10
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Remuneration Committee of the Company. He was
appointed to the Audit Committee on 25 August 2008.
Dato’ Mohamed Salleh is a Chartered Accountant by
profession. He started his career in Malaysia as an
auditor with Peat Marwick & Co. in 1978. In 1979,he joined
Mayban Finance Berhad as Manager and was promoted
in 1982 to General Manager, a position which he held until
1987, following his transfer to Malayan Banking Berhad.
He left Maybank in 1992 to join JB Securities Sdn Bhd as
Managing Director. In 1996, he was appointed Group
Executive Director of CRSC Holdings Berhad,a position he
continues to hold.

His directorship in other public listed companies include
Asian Pac Holdings Berhad,Eden Enterprises (M) Berhad,
LKT Industrial Berhad, Milux Corporation Berhad and
Airocom Technology Berhad.

WONG SIONG SEH

Executive Director / Malaysian

Wong Siong Seh, 46, is an Executive Director of Harbour-
Link Group Berhad. He was appointed to the Board on
27 December 2003 and, is a founder member of Harbour-
Link Group. He started his career in the early 1980s
working as an executive in a prominent shipping company
in Sibu. His involvement in the shipping industry has
earned him vast experience and exposure and, a sound
understanding of the industry which includes ship
management, freighting, chartering services and other
related services. In 1983, he joined Antah Transact
Sdn Bhd as Operations Manager. He was attached to the
company for 9 years where he was involved in providing
logistic services in the oil and gas industry. He left Antah
Transact Sdn Bhd in 1992 to join HLM Group and later was
appointed as Director on 1 March 1994.

He is in charge of the Harbour-Link Group’s shipping and
container liner service operations, management and
business development. He also sits on the Board of
several subsidiary companies of the Group.

He does not hold any directorships in other public
companies.

YONG PIAW SOON

Group Managing Director / Malaysian

Yong Piaw Soon, 56, is the Group Managing Director of
Harbour-Link Group Berhad. He was appointed to the
Board on 27 December 2003. On 12 February 2004,he was
appointed to the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. He is a founder member of Harbour-Link Group
Berhad (“Harbour-Link Group”) and one of the pioneers in
the shipping and freight forwarding industries in East
Malaysia since early 1970s. He started his business in
early 1970s in timber export and other logging related
activities. In 1975, he ventured into forwarding and
shipping business. His excellent business foresight and
the indepth knowledge of the shipping and forwarding
industries,have well positioned him to serve as Managing
Director of the Harbour-Link (M) Sdn Bhd (“HLM”) Group,
and to spearhead business development activities.

Under his leadership, the HLM Group has grown and
developed into one of the major players in the shipping
and forwarding industries in the region. He has managed
to elevate the HLM Group to a higher level of business
achievement in the 1990s when the HLM Group expanded
its business to provide logistics services to cater for the
construction of petro-chemical plant projects in Bintulu
and the booming timber industry within the region. This
marked a major milestone as the success of penetration
into this lucrative market in the oil and gas industry,
timber based industry and infrastructure works have laid
a good foundation for the future growth of the Harbour-
Link Group. He sits on the Board of several subsidiary
companies of Harbour-Link Group.

He does not hold any directorships in other public
companies.

DATO’MOHAMED SALLEH BIN BAJURI

Independent Non-Executive Director / Malaysian

Dato’ Mohamed Salleh bin Bajuri, 57, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of Harbour-Link
Group Berhad on 27 December 2003. On 12 February
2004,he was appointed to the Nomination Committee and



TOH GUAN SENG

Executive Director / Malaysian

Toh Guan Seng, 53, is an Executive Director of Harbour-
Link Group Berhad. He was appointed to the Board on
27 December 2003 and, is a founder member of Eastern
Soldar Engineering & Construction Sdn Bhd (“ESEC”). He
has more than 30 years’ experience in the oil and gas
industry. He started his career as Unit Group Leader with
Jurong Engineering Pte.Ltd (Singapore) and later ventured
into business by setting up a trading firm dealing with LPG
safety equipment. In 1986, he founded ESEC, and over a
period of 22 years, under his able leadership, ESEC Group
penetrated into the oil and gas and petrochemical
industries resulting in the gradual and steady growth of
ESEC.

He is currently the Deputy Chairman of the Negeri
Sembilan Foundry & Engineering Industries Association.

He does not hold any directorships in other public
companies.

LEE SENG CHIONG

Executive Director / Malaysian

Lee Seng Chiong, 49, is an Executive Director of Harbour-
Link Group Berhad. He was appointed to the Board on
27 December 2003. He started his career in 1981 as a
Shipping Executive where he gained experience in
shipping operations, marketing and management. He
joined HLM Group and was appointed as Regional Director
in 1994. Presently, he is in charge of the Bintulu region
shipping operations, management and business
development. He also sits on the Board of several
subsidiary companies of Harbour-Link Group.

He does not hold any directorships in other public
companies.

HII KWONGWUI

Executive Director / Malaysian

Hii Kwong Wui, 46, is an Executive Director of Harbour-
Link Group Berhad. He was appointed to the Board on
27 December 2003. He started his career in Pan Sarawak
Co. Sdn Bhd in 1981 as a Shipping Executive. In 1994, he
joined HLM Group and was appointed as Regional Director
in charge of the Kuching and Sibu Regions in 1996. He has
more than 20 years’ experience in the shipping industry.
He is responsible for the daily operations, management
and business development of both the Sibu and Kuching
regions. He also sits on the Board of several subsidiary
companies of Harbour-Link Group.

He does not hold any directorships in other public
companies.

LAU SII HIN

Executive Director / Malaysian

Lau Sii Hin, 57, is an Executive Director of Harbour-Link
Group Berhad. He was appointed to the Board on
27 December 2003. In the early 1980s,he joined Sri Minah
Enterprise Sdn Bhd as a Logging Manager. He joined HLM
Group in 1994 and was appointed as Regional Director the
same year. He has more than 30 years’ experience in the
transportation, inventory and mechanical industries. He
is a key personnel who oversees the transport department
which includes workshop repair, maintenance and store
procurement as well as the day-to-day transport
operations. He also sits on the Board of several subsidiary
companies of Harbour-Link Group.

He does not hold any directorships in other public
companies.
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DATO SRI CELESTINE UJANG AK JILAN

Independent Non-Executive Director / Malaysian

Dato Sri Celestine Ujang AK Jilan,61,was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of Harbour-Link
Group Berhad on 8 September 2008. He was appointed to
the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company on the same date. Dato Sri Celestine who
obtained his Senior Cambridge Certificate (Grade I) in
1965 served as an Administrative Officer with the Sarawak
State Government from 1966 to 1973. He also served as a
full Minister in the State Cabinet for 20 years, from 1974
till 1981 and from 1987 till 2001 and as Speaker of the
State Legislative Assembly for 7 years, from 1981 till 1987.
He is currently the Deputy Chairman of Bintulu
Development Authority, a post he has held since October
2003. He is a Member of Curtin University of Technology,
Sarawak Campus Council, Deputy President of Dayak
Chamber of Commerce and Industry and a Member of the
Board of Trustees for the Dayak Cultural Foundation. He
was conferred the Panglima Negara Bintang Sarawak
(PNBS),an award which carries the title “Dato Sri” in 1982.

He is currently the Chairman of Permodalan Dayak
Berhad.

OTHER INFORMATION

(a) Family Relationship

None of the Directors have any family relationship
with any director and/or major shareholder of the
Company.

(b) Conflict of Interest

The Company has entered into recurrent related
party transactions with parties in which the Directors

of the Company, namely Yong Piaw Soon and
Wong Siong Seh have direct and/or indirect interests.

Save for the above mentioned disclosure,none of the
other Directors have any conflict of interest with the
Company.

(c) Conviction of Offences

None of the Directors have any conviction for
offences within the past 10 years other than traffic
offences.

TUANHJ ALIAS@AWG ALIAS BIN TIMBANG

Independent Non-Executive Director / Malaysian

Tuan Hi Alias @ Awg Alias Bin Timbang, 57, was appointed
as an Independent Non-Executive Director of Harbour-
Link Group Berhad on 9 December 2005. He started his
career as a government servant in the Customs
Department of Malaysia and has more than 35 years’
experience in customs related matters.

He does not hold any directorships in other public
companies.

SIE SHWEE ING

Independent Non-Executive Director / Malaysian

Sie Shwee Ing,40,was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Harbour-Link Group Berhad on
27 February 2006. He was also appointed to the Audit
Committee of the Company on 27 February 2006. On
27 August 2008, he was appointed to the Remuneration
and Nomination Committee. He graduated from
Swinburne University of Technology, Melbourne with a
degree in civil engineering. He is a registered member of
the Board of Engineers,Malaysia,as well as the Institution
of Engineers, Australia. He is presently the Managing
Director of Sie Puoi Chang Construction Sdn Bhd and
Furnique Woodcraft Sdn Bhd. He is responsible for the
daily operations and management of corporate affairs.
He is also actively involved in several associations that
undertake social work. In 2007, he was elected as
Honorary Treasurer of Pertubuhan Kontraktor
Pembangunan Dan Kejuruteraan Sivil Sarawak.

He does not hold any directorships in other public
companies.



Harbour Agencies
(Sabah) Sdn Bhd
(487253-X)

45%
Harbour Hub Agencies
(Sabah) Sdn Bhd
(486289-M)

40%
Harbour Hub Agencies
Sdn Bhd (483815-H)

25%
Eastock Resources
Sdn Bhd (420982-H)

ESE Energy Sdn Bhd
(326947-H)

Eastern Soldar
(Singapore) Pte Ltd
(200610417 E)

A.T. Dunia (BTU)
Sdn Bhd (311969-P)

Harbour Services
Corporation Sdn Bhd
(311131-U)

HLG Engineering
Sdn Bhd
(311075-X)

Harbour Agencies
Sdn Bhd (237806-K)

Harbour-Link
Logistics Sdn Bhd
(206893-W)

49%
Harbour-Link
Logistics (S)
Sdn Bhd (795956-H)

Harbour Agencies
(Sibu) Sdn Bhd
(291744-P)

Harbour Services
(Kuching) Sdn Bhd
(354145-A)

Harbour Services
(Miri) Sdn Bhd
(311383-D)

Harbour-Link Leasing
Sdn Bhd (446351-K)

Progresif Lengkap Sdn
Bhd (410555-M)

Road Safety &
Driving Academy
Sdn Bhd (660675-K)

50%
A & H Project Services
Sdn Bhd (524951-W)

Harbour Challenger
Sdn Bhd (679380-P)

Harbour Eagle Sdn
Bhd (682237-W)

Satun Shipping
Sdn Bhd (681960-T)

Harbour-Link Shipping
Sdn Bhd (738252-M)

Harbour-Link Marine
Services Sdn Bhd
(738253-H)

52%
Harbour Gemini
Sdn Bhd (733542-X)

Harbour Jupiter
Sdn Bhd
(759230-A)

70%
Harbour-Link Lines
(JB) Sdn Bhd
(739560-D)

60%
Harbour-Link Lines
(KCH) Sdn Bhd
(739565-T)

95%
Harbour-Link Lines
(KK) Sdn Bhd
(739564-H)

60%
Harbour-Link Lines
(PK) Sdn Bhd
(739562-P)
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corporate structure

HARBOUR IVORY
SDN BHD (738249-M)

HLG RESOURCES
SDN BHD (720931-A)

80%
HARBOURHORNBILL
SDN BHD (733539-X)

HLG PETROLEUM
SDN BHD (722821-K)

HARBOUR-LINK
NAVIGATION
SDN BHD
(678560-X)

HARBOUR AGENCIES
(SARAWAK) SDN BHD

(461102-P)

80%
HARBOUR-LINK
LINES SDN BHD

(738254-T)

HARBOUR-LINK (M)
SDN BHD
(222555-H)

EASTERN SOLDAR
ENGINEERING &
CONSTRUCTION
SDN BHD (153971-K)
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group financial highlights

2005 2006 2007 2008
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Revenue 229,579 217,536 287,868 345,491
Profit from operations 8,303 7,978 13,063 40,537
Profit before taxation 6,274 4,378 7,943 36,099
Profit attributable to shareholders of parent 2,435 3,963 5,052 26,293
Total assets 242,715 238,306 307,009 316,408
Total liabilities 77,451 69,703 130,493 115,011

Per Share Data (sen)

Net assets 90.4 92.6 95.4 108.9
Earnings per share 1.3 2.2 2.8 14.5

Financial Ratios

Gross profit margin (%) 9.5 8.2 8.4 15.5
Return on shareholders' funds (%) 1.5 2.4 2.9 13.3
Trade receivables' turnover (days) 76 85 81 80
Debt to equity 0.3 0.2 0.5 0.3
Interest coverage (times) 3.6 2.4 2.6 8.4
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group managing director’s statement



“The year under review was Harbour-Link Group’s best

performance thus far, following the achievement of a record net

profit of RM26 million on the back of an equally remarkable

record breaking turnover of RM345 million”.
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group managing director’s statement

Dear valued shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Harbour-Link Group
Berhad, it gives me great pleasure to present the Annual
Report and the Financial Statements of the Group and the
Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2008.

At the outset, I am pleased to inform you that the year
under review was Harbour-Link Group’s best performance
thus far, following the achievement of a record net profit
of RM26 million on the back of an equally remarkable
record breaking turnover of RM345 million. These
impressive financial results certainly bear testimony to
our continued efforts to drive growth,both organically and
strategically, with a view to creating value for all
stakeholders.

The Group has grown healthily over the last three years.
We are now bidding and winning increasingly large and
more diverse contracts. We are also honing our skills set
and leveraging on our expertise from across the Group in
order to achieve synergistic benefits in the delivery of fast,
reliable and effective services to our customers. Simply
put,we know where we are going and what we need to get
there in order to realise our growth objectives. As we
continue to embrace new challenges in a marketplace
that is constantly changing and increasingly competitive,
it is important for us to maintain our focus in order to stay
ahead of the competition.

All three existing main business segments contributed to
the Group’s improved financial results. Our Shipping,
Forwarding and Transport division’s growth was
commendable despite bearing the brunt of higher direct
costs, particularly fuel and spare parts. The Container
liner service achieved an overall higher load factor as a
result of adhering to a more efficient and shorter sailing
cycle while the tug and barge operations and shipping
agency continued to improve operational efficiencies in
order to maintain their competitiveness. Furthermore, the
Forwarding and Transport division grew on the back of
new project cargo contract awards during the financial
year.

The Crane and Heavy equipment division recorded a
significant growth in operating profits on the back of very
strong contract awards as a result of the robust oil and
gas and energy related industry activities. Compared to
2007, the division’s revenue and net profits grew by 74%
and 48%, respectively.
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The Group has grown over the last three years.

We are now bidding and winning increasingly

large and more diverse contracts.

“
”
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Going forward, given the supply constraints
with regards to skilled labour, fabrication
capacity and equipment, we see a window of
opportunities to tap new markets as we
continue to leverage on our engineering team’s
experience and capabilities to meet the exacting
standards.

“

”
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15Our Engineering division did extremely well in Singapore
while steady progress has been made on key projects
secured locally. Going forward, given the supply
constraints with regards to skilled labour, fabrication
capacity and equipment, we see a window of
opportunities to tap new markets as we continue to
leverage on our engineering team’s experience and
capabilities to meet the exacting standards.

We know that in our industry,access to qualified people is
the key to growth, and that there is nothing more
important than our ability to attract and retain the best
employees. That is why investing in our people is a
principal element of our strategy and, remains central to
our continued growth and success.

Just as we reap the fruits of our success,equally,we must
operate in a manner that is both caring and responsible.
Towards this end, we remain mindful of the potential
impact of our operations and the obligations we have to
the environment, the health and safety of our employees

and the welfare of our communities. Monetary and other
donations by our Company and employees hoping to make
the communities in which we live and work better
accentuate such awareness through voluntary efforts.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For financial year 2008, the Group’s revenue rose to an all-
time high of RM345.5 million, an increase of 20.0% from
the previous record achieved in financial year 2007. Net
profit after tax increased by four folds to RM26.3 million
as compared to net profit after tax of RM5.1 million
recorded the previous year. Earnings per share improved
from 2.78 sen last year to 14.45 sen for current financial
year 2008.

At year end, shareholders’ equity had increased to
approximately RM198.1 million from RM173.6 million last
year. The Group’s gearing remains healthy at 0.3 times
with total borrowings amounting to RM65.7 million.
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DIVIDEND

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to
propose a first and final dividend net of tax at 25% of 1.5
sen per ordinary share for the financial year ended
30 June 2008.

OUTLOOK

Looking back, I am extremely proud of Harbour-Link
Group’s accomplishments, thus far. However, our journey
is far from over and as we continue to blaze new trails, I
remain committed to spearheading the Group’s growth as
we focus on unlocking greater value for our shareholders.
Emphasis will continue to be placed on achieving strong
returns and exploring opportunities in areas where we
have been extremely successful since going public.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to take place on record my sincere appreciation to
Dato’ Ch’ng Kong San and Mr Yeow See Yuen for their past
contributions. I would also like to take this opportunity to
welcome Dato Sri Celestine Ujang AK Jilan who has joined
the Board as an Independent Non-Executive Director.

On behalf of the Board, I wish to express my heartfelt
appreciation to all of our employees across the Group for
their invaluable contributions, dedication and
commitment in helping us to record our best performance,
thus far. As in the past, I look forward to working with
them closely as we embark on another chapter and the
achievement of yet another significant milestone in our
Group’s history. To all our shareholders, customers and
business associates, thank you for your continued
support. We look forward to sharing many more years of
success together.

YONG PIAW SOON
Group Managing Director
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our corporate governance statement

The Board of Directors of Harbour-Link Group Berhad (“The Board”) fully appreciates the importance of adopting high
standards of Corporate Governance within the Group to ensure that the recommendation of the Malaysian Code on
Corporate Governance (“the Code”) are practised throughout the Group as a mean of conducting the business and
affairs of the Group with honesty, integrity and professionalism so as to enhance business prosperity and corporate
accountability with aim to protect the interest of shareholders, whilst ensuring at the same time the interest of other
stakeholders are safeguarded.

The Board is thus fully committed to the maintenance of high standards of corporate governance by supporting and
implementing, wherever applicable, the prescriptions of the principles and best practices set out in the Code.

THE BOARD OFDIRECTORS

The Board has overall responsibility for the strategic direction, establishing corporate goals and monitoring the
achievement of these goals.

The Board meets on a quarterly basis with additional meetings being convened as necessary. For the financial year
ended 30 June 2008, the Board met a total of four (4) times. The attendance of the Directors who held office during the
financial year is set out below:

Directors Attendance

Yong Piaw Soon 4/4

Dato’ Mohamed Salleh bin Bajuri 3/4

Dato’ Ch’ng Kong San (resigned on 31.07.08) 4/4

Wong Siong Seh 4/4

Toh Guan Seng 4/4

Lee Seng Chiong 4/4

Hii Kwong Wui 4/4

Lau Chii Hung (resigned on 28.04.08) 3/3

Lau Sii Hin 4/4

Yeow See Yuen (resigned on 22.08.08) 3/4

Tuan Hj Alias @ Awg Alias bin Timbang 4/4

Sie Shwee Ing 4/4

Dato Sri Celestine Ujang AK Jilan (appointed on 08.09.08) N/A

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently has ten (10) members comprising:

• The Group Managing Director
• Five (5) Executive Directors
• Four (4) Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Board members have diverse professional and
entrepreneurial background,varied skills and experiences
for effective management of the Group. A brief profile of
each Director is presented on pages 5 to 7 of the Annual
Report.

Mr. Yong Piaw Soon is the Group Managing Director. He
has overall responsibility for the Group’s business
operations, effective direction, implementation of Board
policies, management of the Group’s businesses and
decisions. Nevertheless, the ultimate responsibility for
the final decision on all major matters is referred to the
Board for consideration and deliberation.

The presence of Independent Non-Executive Directors is
to provide independent and unbiased views and advice for
the interest of the Group as well as shareholders and
investors.
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our corporate governance statement

Supply of Information

All Directors have full access to information concerning
the Company and the Group. The Directors are provided
with the relevant agenda and a set of Board papers in
sufficient time prior to every Board meeting to enable
them to obtain further explanation, where necessary in
order to be properly informed before the meeting. The
Board papers circulated include quarterly and annual
financial statements, minutes of meeting of all
Committees of the Board, report on recurrent related
party transactions, updates from all regulatory
authorities, internal and external audit reports and
reports on the Group’s financial, operational and
corporate developments. All matters requiring Board
approvals have been duly circulated prior to the Board
Meeting. During Board Meetings, these matters will be
discussed and deliberated with senior management
before decisions are made.

The Directors also have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretaries, senior management staff as
well as independent professional advisers including the
external auditors.

Board Committees

The following Board Committees have been established
to assist the Board in the execution of its duties. The
terms of reference of these Committees have been
approved by the Board.

(a) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee which was established in
December 2003, comprises three Independent
Non-Executive Directors. The composition,
responsibilities, detailed terms of reference and the
activities of the Audit Committee during the financial
year are set out separately in the Audit Committee
Report on pages 22 to 24 of the Annual Report.

(b) Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in
February 2004. The Committee meets at least once a
year. The members of the Nomination Committee
who served during the financial year are:

Sie Shwee Ing
Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director
(appointed as member on 25.08.08
and Chairman on 08.09.08)

Dato’ Mohamed Salleh bin Bajuri
Member, Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato Sri Celestine Ujang AK Jilan
(appointed on 08.09.08)
Member, Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato’ Ch’ng Kong San (resigned on 31.07.08)
Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director

Yeow See Yuen (resigned on 22.08.08)
Member, Independent Non-Executive Director

(c) Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in
February 2004. The Committee meets at least once a
year. The members of the Remuneration Committee
who served during the financial year are:

Dato’ Mohamed Salleh bin Bajuri
Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director

Yong Piaw Soon
Member, Group Managing Director

Sie Shwee Ing (appointed on 25.08.08)
Member, Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato’ Ch’ng Kong San (resigned on 31.07.08)
Member, Independent Non-Executive Director

Yeow See Yuen (resigned on 22.08.08)
Member, Independent Non-Executive Director

Appointments to the Board

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
include the recommending of new candidates to the
Board,Directors to fill the seats on Board Committees and
assessing the effectiveness of the Board and Board
Committees. The Nomination Committee will assist the
Board in reviewing the balance mix of skills and expertise
of the Non-Executive Directors.
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Directors’ Training

The Board as a whole appoints individual of sufficient caliber, knowledge and experience to discharge the duties of a
director appropriately. There is no formal training programme for Directors. However, all the Directors have attended
and completed the Mandatory Accreditation Programme conducted by the Bursatra Sdn. Bhd. and its affiliates. In
addition, all Directors have attended conferences and seminars organised by the relevant regulatory authorities and
professional bodies to keep abreast with developments in the market place.

Except for Dato Sri Celestine Ujang who joined the Board on 8 September 2008, all Directors have attended the Blue
Ocean Strategy Workshop on 28 August 2007, conducted by an external corporate training and management consulting
firm.

Re-election of Directors

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,all Directors appointed by the Board are required to retire and
seek for re-election by the shareholders at the first Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) immediately after their
appointment. One third of the remaining existing Directors including the Group Managing Director are subject for
re-election by rotation at least once every three years at each AGM.

DIRECTORS’REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board the framework of executive remuneration
and the remuneration package of the Executive Directors. The level of remuneration reflects the experience and level
of responsibilities undertaken by the Executive Directors. The remuneration package offered to the Executive Directors
and fees payable to Non-Executive Directors are the responsibility of the entire Board and individual Directors are
required to abstain from discussion on their own remuneration and fees.

Details of Directors’ Remuneration

The aggregate Directors’ remuneration paid and payable to all Directors of the Company by the Group for the financial
year, and categorised into appropriate components and bands are as follows:

Director’s Salaries & Benefits-
Fees Allowance Bonus in-kind Total
RM RM RM RM RM

Executive Directors – 1,672,607 202,428 13,925 1,888,960

Non-Executive Directors 163,897 18,500 – – 182,397

163,897 1,691,107 202,428 13,925 2,071,357

No. of Directors
Remuneration Bands Executive Non-Executive Total

RM1 – RM50,000 – 4 4
RM50,001 – RM100,000 – 1 1
RM200,001 – RM250,000 4 – 4
RM250,001 – RM300,000 1 – 1
RM300,001 – RM350,000 1 – 1
RM400,001 – RM450,000 1 – 1

Total 7 5 12
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our corporate governance statement

RELATIONSHIPWITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Group recognises the importance of effective and
timely communication with shareholders and investors to
keep them informed on the Group’s latest business and
corporate developments. Such information is
disseminated via the Company’s annual reports, circulars
to shareholders, quarterly financial results, the various
announcements made from time to time and notices of
general meeting published in national newspapers. In
addition, the management also had dialogues with
institutional investors, fund managers and analysts.

The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) remains the
principal avenue for dialogue with shareholders and
investors, where they may seek clarification on the
Group’s performance, major developments of the Group
as well as on the resolutions being proposed. Members
of the Board as well as the external auditors are present
to answer questions raised.

In addition, shareholders and investors are able to access
to the latest corporate, financial and market information
of the Company via the Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad’s (“Bursa Malaysia”) website at
www.bursamalaysia.com

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board aims to present a balanced, clear and
comprehensive assessment of the Group’s financial
position and prospects primarily through its annual report
and quarterly interim financial results. In the process of
preparing these financial statements, the Board,with the
assistance of the Audit Committee, reviewed the
accounting policies and practices to ensure that they are
consistently applied throughout the financial year. In
cases where judgement and estimates were made, they
were based on reasonableness and prudence. The
financial statements have been prepared in conformity
with the applicable approved accounting standards.

Statement of Directors’ Responsibility in Relation to the
Financial Statements

In accordance with the requirements in Paragraph
15.27(a) of the Listing Requirements of the Bursa
Malaysia, the Board of Directors are required to issue a
statement explaining their responsibility for preparing the
annual audited financial statements.

In the preparation of the Financial Statements as set out
on pages 27 to 86 of this Annual Report, the Directors are
of the view that:

(a) The Group has used appropriate accounting policies
that were consistently applied;

(b) Reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates
were made;

(c) All applicable approved accounting standards in
Malaysia have been followed.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the
Company maintains accounting records, which disclose
with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the
Company and the Group, and that the Financial
Statements comply with the Companies Act, 1965. The
Statement of Directors pursuant to Section 169 of the
Companies Act, 1965 is set out on page 32 of this Annual
Report.

Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for
maintaining a sound system of internal control which
provides reasonable assurance of effective and efficient
operations, and compliances with regulations as well as
with internal procedures and guidelines.

A Statement on Internal Control of the Group is set out on
pages 25 to 26 of the Annual Report.

Relationship with Auditors

Through the Audit Committee, the Group has always
maintained a transparent and appropriate relationship
with the internal and external auditors. The Audit
Committee meets with the external auditors at least once
a year to review audit plans and to facilitate exchange of
views on issues requiring attention. In addition, audit
findings and reports are highlighted to the Audit
Committee and the Board.
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Compliance Statement

The Company has complied with the principles and best
practices as set out in Parts 1 and 2 respectively of the
Code.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Harbour-Link Group is committed to the welfare of its
employees and to the communities in which environment
it operates. The management recognises that for long
term sustainability, its strategic orientation will need to
cater beyond the financial parameters. During the year,
Harbour-Link Group has initiated and continued to
support important causes amongst others, monetary
contributions to the needy, sponsorship to community,
emphasizing occupational health and safety at workplace
and also education funds for children of eligible
employees.

ADDITIONALCOMPLIANCE INFORMATION

The following information is provided in compliance with
Paragraph 9.25 of the Listing Requirements of Bursa
Malaysia:

Share Buyback

There were no share buyback during the financial year.

American Depository Receipt (ADR) or Global Depository
Receipt (GDR) Programme

The Company did not sponsor any ADR or GDR programme
during the financial year.

Imposition of Sanctions/Penalties

There were no sanctions and/or penalties imposed on the
Company and its subsidiaries, Directors or management
by the relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.

Non-Audit Fees

The Company did not pay the external auditors any non-
audit fees during the financial year.

Profit Guarantee

There was no profit guarantee given to the Company by
any shareholder during the financial year.

Material Contracts

During the financial year, there were no material contracts
on the Company and its subsidiaries involving Directors’
and major shareholders’ interests.

Revaluation Policy on Landed Properties

The revaluation of landed properties will only be
undertaken by the Company upon the approval of the
Board of Directors of the Company or should there be an
intended sale or should the market values be materially
changed.

Recurrent Related Party Transactions

At the Fifth Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the
Company held on 27 of November 2007, the Company had
obtained the approval of shareholders for the renewal of
the shareholders’ mandate to enter into recurrent related
party transactions of a revenue or trading nature, which
are necessary for its day-to-day operations and in the
ordinary course of its business, with related parties.

The said mandate took effect on 27 November 2007 and
will continue until the conclusion of the forthcoming Sixth
AGM of the Company.

At the forthcoming Sixth AGM to be held on 25 November
2008, the Company intends to seek its shareholders’
approval to renew the mandate for recurrent related party
transactions of a revenue and trading nature. The details
of the shareholders’ mandate to be sought are furnished
in the Circular to Shareholders dated 31 October 2008
enclosed together with this Annual Report.
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audit committee report

MEMBERS

Members of the Audit Committee and their respective designations are as follows:

Name of Directors Designation

Dato’ Mohamed Salleh bin Bajuri
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed on 8 September 2008 Chairman
Appointed on 25 August 2008 Member

Sie Shwee Ing
Independent Non-Executive Director Member

Dato Sri Celestine Ujang Anak Jilan
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed on 8 September 2008 Member

Yeow See Yuen
Independent Non-Executive Director
Resigned on 22 August 2008 Chairman

Dato’ Ch’ng Kong San
Independent Non-Executive Director
Resigned on 31 July 2008 Member

TERMS OFREFERENCE

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee had been
revised to conform to the Listing Requirements of the
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Malaysia”).

OBJECTIVE

The primary function of the Audit Committee is to assist
the Board in fulfilling the following objectives on the
Group’s activities:

• Assess the Group’s processes relating to its risks and
control environment;

• Oversee financial reporting; and
• Evaluate the internal and external audit processes.

MEMBERSHIP

The Audit Committee shall be appointed by the Board
among its members and shall consist of no fewer than
three (3) members. All the Audit Committee members
must be Non-Executive Directors with a majority of them
being Independent Directors and at least one of whom
must be a member of the Malaysian Institute of
Accountants or possesses such other qualifications
and/or experience as approved by the Bursa Malaysia.

The members of the Audit Committee shall elect a
chairman from among their members who is an
Independent director. The chairman elected shall be
subjected to endorsement by the Board.

If a member of the Audit Committee resigns, dies or for
any other reasons ceases to be a member with the results
that the number is reduced below three (3) members, the
Board shall,within three (3) months of such event,appoint
such number of new members as may be required to make
up the minimum number of three (3) members.
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AUTHORITY

The Audit Committee is authorised by the Board to
investigate any activity within its terms of reference and
have full and unrestricted access to any information
pertaining to the Company. The Audit Committee has
direct communication channels with the internal and
external auditors and allowed to convene meetings with
the external auditors, excluding the attendance of other
directors and employees of the Company, whenever
deemed necessary. The Audit Committee shall be
empowered to obtain external legal or other independent
professional advice and also retain persons having special
competence as necessary to assist the Audit Committee
in fulfilling its responsibilities.

MEETINGS

The Audit Committee shall meet at least four (4) times a
year or more frequently as need arises. Meetings will be
attended by the members of the Audit Committee and the
Company Secretary who shall act as the Secretary of the
Audit Committee. The agenda for Audit Committee
meetings shall be circulated before each meeting to
members of the Audit Committee. Other Board members,
senior management personnel, internal auditors,
representative of the external auditors (at least once a
year) may also attend the meeting upon invitation by the
Audit Committee. The external auditors shall have the
right to appear and be heard at any meeting of the Audit
Committee and shall appear before the Audit Committee
when required to do so by the Audit Committee. A quorum
shall be two (2) members, and the majority of the
members present must be Independent Directors.

RESPONSIBILITIES AND DUTIES OFTHE AUDIT
COMMITTEE

The duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee
shall include:

• To review the effectiveness of internal control
systems and to consider major findings on internal
investigations and management’s response;

• To review the quarterly and annual financial
statements of the Group, focusing particularly on:

(a) any changes in accounting policies and
practices;

(b) significant adjustments and unusual events
arising from the audit;

(c) the going concern assumption; and

(d) compliance with applicable approved
accounting standards, the Listing Requirements
of the Bursa Malaysia and other regulatory
requirements.

• To consider the appointment, resignation and
dismissal of the external auditors and the audit fees;

• To oversee all matters pertaining to audit including
the audit plan and report;

• To discuss problems and reservations arising from
the interim and final audits, and any matters the
external auditors may wish to discuss (in the
absence of management where necessary);

• To review with the external auditors, their evaluation
of the effectiveness of the system of internal
controls, and in particular review the external
auditors’ management letter and the management’s
response;

• To review related party transactions entered into by
the Company and its subsidiary companies, to
ensure that such transactions are undertaken on the
Group’s normal commercial terms and that such
transactions are reported annually to shareholders
via the annual report; and

• To undertake any other functions as may be defined
by the Board.
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SUMMARYOF ACTIVITIES DURING THE FINANCIALYEAR

During the financial year ended 30 June 2008, five (5) Audit Committee meetings were held. The details of attendance
Committee members are as follows:

No. of Meetings Attended/Held % of
Name of CommitteeMembers During Directors’Tenure in Office Attendance

Yeow See Yuen 4/5 80%
Dato’ Ch’ng Kong San 5/5 100%
Sie Shwee Ing 5/5 100%

In line with the terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
the following activities were carried out by the Audit
Committee during the financial year ended 30 June 2008
in the discharge of its functions and duties:

• Reviewed the quarterly and year-end financial
statements to ensure the Company’s compliance
with the Listing Requirements of the Bursa Malaysia,
standards issued by Malaysia Accounting Standards
Board and other legal and regulatory requirements
before recommending them for the Board’s approval;

• Reviewed the related party transactions and conflict
of interest that have arisen within the Company and
the Group;

• Reviewed and assessed the appropriateness of the
Group’s accounting polices and the adequacy of
management reporting requirements;

• Considered the appointment of the external auditors
and audit fees;

• Reviewed the internal audit function including the
scope of work and internal audit programme,
processes or investigation undertaken and whether
or not appropriate action is taken on the
recommendations of the internal audit function and
to inform itself of any resignation of internal audit
staff member;

• Reviewed the external auditors’ scope of work and
audit plans for the financial year prior to the
commencement of audit; and

• Reviewed and recommended to the Board for
approval the Statement on Internal Control and the
Corporate Governance Statement for inclusion in the
Annual Report.

INTERNALAUDIT FUNCTION

The Committee acknowledges the need for an effective
system of internal controls covering all aspects of
activities including the mapping and management of risk
in which the Group may be exposed to.

The Group’s Internal Audit function is independent of the
activities or operations of other operating units, its
principle role is to undertake independent, regular
systematic reviews of the system of internal control so as
to provide reasonable assurance that such system
continues to operate satisfactorily and effectively. The
Internal Audit function reports directly to the Audit
Committee and assists the Board in monitoring the
internal controls to mitigate the risks.
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statement of internal control

RESPONSIBILITY

The Board of Directors recognises the importance of

maintaining a sound system of internal control and risk

management practices to safeguard shareholders’

investment and the Group’s assets. Therefore, the Board

affirms its overall responsibility for the Group’s approach

to assessing risk and the systems of internal control, and

for reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control systems and management

information systems, including systems for compliance

with applicable laws, regulations, rules, directives and

guidelines. The review covers financial, operational and

compliance controls, and risk management procedures of

the Group, except for associates and joint ventures.

However, such procedures are designed to manage rather

than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business

objective. Such procedures can only provide reasonable

and not absolute assurance against material

misstatement, fraud or loss. In pursuing this objective, the

management's role is to ensure the implementation and

compliance of those policies on risk and internal control

in its day to day operations.

RISKMANAGEMENT

Risk management is a formal ongoing process for

identifying, evaluating, managing and reviewing any

changes in the risks faced by the businesses in the Group.

The risk management process involves all business and

functional units of the Group identifying significant risks

which impact the achievement of business objectives of

the Group. It also involves the assessment of impact and

likelihood of such risks and the effectiveness of controls

in place to manage them.

Steps are being taken to embed internal control and risk

management into the operations of the business and to

deal with areas of improvement and which come to the

management’s and the Board’s attention.

INTERNALAUDIT FUNCTION

The Group has an internal audit function which reports

directly to the Audit Committee. Its functions are to assist

the Audit Committee in monitoring and evaluating the

risks management activities and internal controls, based

on the internal audit plan. The Audit Committee will

approve audit plan in the Audit Committee meeting and

review its status in subsequent Audit Committee

meetings during the year. The scope of internal audit

covers a wide variety of operational matters and, as a

minimum,ensures compliance with the Group’s specified

standards and compliance with laws and regulations and

the management of assets.

OTHER RISKS AND CONTROLPROCESSES

The Group also has in place an organisational structure

with defined line of responsibility, delegation of authority

and a process of hierarchical reporting. The existence of

Limits of Authority which provides the authority limits of

the employees in the approval of various transactions and

a Human Resource Policy Manual which highlights terms

and conditions of employment, remuneration, training and

development,performance review and misconduct which

are relevant across the Group's operations.
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The other key elements of the Group’s internal control

systems are described below:

• Scheduled operations and management meetings;

• Employment of qualified and capable work force;

• Active participation by certain members of the Board

in the day-to-day running of the operations and

regular dialogues with senior management on

operational matters;

• Review and approval of all proposals relating to

significant capital and investment acquisition by the

Board;

• Quarterly reviews of the performance of business

units by the Board;

• The Internal Audit Function provides objective and

independent periodic reports on the adequacy and

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system;

• A detailed budgeting process takes place annually,

where each business unit prepares its budget for the

following financial year and the budget is then

reviewed by the Chairman and the Executive

Directors, after which the budget is submitted to the

Board for formal approval;

• The Board is furnished with timely and detailed

Board papers and the Board is further briefed on all

significant matters for their consideration and

deliberation.

WEAKNESSES IN INTERNAL CONTROLS THAT
RESULT INMATERIAL LOSSES

There were no material losses incurred during the

financial year as a result of weaknesses in internal control

and the Board and Management continue to take

measures to strengthen the control environment within

the Group.

This statementwasmade in accordancewith a resolution

of the Board dated 27 August 2008.

statement of internal control
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.3 Changes in Accounting Policies and Effects Arising from Adoption of New, Amendment FRSs and IC
Interpretation

On 1 July 2007, the Group and the Company adopted the following FRSs mandatory for the current
financial year:

FRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources
FRS 107 Cash Flow Statements
FRS 111 Construction Contracts
FRS 112 Income Taxes
FRS 118 Revenue
FRS 120 Accounting for Government Grants and disclosure for Government

Assistance
FRS 124 Related Party Transactions
FRS 134 Interim Financial Reporting
FRS 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Amendmet to FRS 1192004 Employees Benefits – Actuarial Gains and Losses, Group Plans

and Disclosures
Amendment to FRS 121 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates - Net

Investments in a Foreign Operation
IC Interpretation 1 Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar

Liabilities

The adoption of FRS 6, 107, 111, 112, 118, 120, 134, 137, amendments to FRS 1192004 and 121 and IC
Interpretation 1 does not result in significant changes in accounting policies of the Group and had no
significant impact on the financial statements. The adoption of FRS 124 gave rise to additional
disclosures but did not result in significant changes in accounting policies of the Group and of the
Company.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not adopted the following
FRS which effective date is deferred.

Effective for financial periods
FRS beginning on or after

FRS 139: Financial Instruments – Recognition Measurement Effective date deferred

The above new FRS is expected to have no significant impact on the financial statements of the Group
and the Company upon their initial application.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.4 Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgement

(a) Critical Judgements Made in Applying Accounting Policies

(i) Classification between investment properties and property, plant and equipment

The Group has developed certain criteria based on FRS 140 in making judgement whether a
property qualifies as an investment property. Investment property is a property held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and
another portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold separately (or leased out separately
under a finance lease), the Group would account for the portions separately. If the portions
could not be sold separately, the property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does not qualify as investment property.

(b) Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(i) Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses and unabsorbed capital
allowances to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the losses and capital allowances can be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The total carrying value of unutilised tax losses of the Group was RM17,325,000
(2007: RM19,080,000) and the unabsorbed capital allowance of the Group was RM29,689,000
(2007: RM28,373,000).

(ii) Construction Contract

The Group recognises construction contract revenue and expenses in the income statement by
using the stage of completion method. The stage of completion is determined by the
proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total
contract costs.

Significant judgement is required in determining the stage of completion, the extent of the
property development costs incurred, the estimated total contract revenue and costs, as well
as the recoverability of the contract projects. In making the judgement, the Group evaluates
based on past experience and by relying on the work of specialists.

notes to the financial statements
30 June 2008
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3. REVENUE

Revenue of the Group and of the Company consists of the following:

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Dividend income – – 7,451,458 3,932,165
Management fees – – 840,000 840,000
Engineering contract 53,042,544 35,548,433 – –
Hiring of plant and machinery 43,333,213 24,862,469 – –
Rental income – – 340,000 –
Road safety training and others 157,944 2,652,360 – –
Sales of pallets 159,482 27,510 – –
Shipping, forwarding and transportation 248,797,934 224,777,592 – –

345,491,117 287,868,364 8,631,458 4,772,165

4. OTHER INCOME

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Bad debts written off recovered 1,264 19,110 – –
Creditors written back – 225,312 – –
Gain on disposal of property, plant

and equipment 1,040,521 253,237 – 513
Realised foreign exchange gain 871,419 675,358 – –
Unrealised foreign exchange gain 257,991 508,200 – –
Gain on disposal of an associate – 14,632 – –
Insurance claimed 28,792 173,912 2,740 –
Interest income 191,885 191,049 70,523 90,148
Interest received from subsidiaries – – 1,072,313 623,298
Management fee received 597,949 12,000 – –
Provision for doubtful debts no

longer required 527,630 919,385 – –
Rental income 292,978 219,892 – –
Sundry income 107,593 91,800 – 1,367

3,918,022 3,303,887 1,145,576 715,326
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5. FINANCE COSTS

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Bank guarantee interest 2,410 3,240 – –
Bankers' acceptance interest 164,166 228,635 – –
Interest – related companies – – 644,353 336,933
Lease interest 392,869 790,801 16,053 21,379
Other interest 783 850 – –
Overdraft interest 169,587 338,855 – –
Term loan interest 4,122,689 3,649,613 1,660,968 1,109,644

4,852,504 5,011,994 2,321,374 1,467,956

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The following amounts have been included in arriving at profit before tax:

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Employee benefits expense (Note 7) 30,632,937 19,460,152 1,629,833 1,091,712
Non-executive directors'

remuneration (Note 8) 182,397 113,063 168,000 106,000
Amortisation of prepaid land

lease payments (Note 14) 192,717 186,362 – –
Amortisation of goodwill (Note15) – 1,300 – –
Auditors' remuneration
– current year 211,354 153,442 18,000 13,000
– underprovision in prior year 850 300 – –
Bad debts written off 185,604 258,465 – –
Depreciation of property, plant

and equipment (Note 12) 8,753,250 8,278,998 161,543 143,414
Fair value adjustment of investment

properties (Note 13) 18,047 18,000 – –
Impairment of goodwill (Note 15) 719,487 – – –
Incorporation expense – 22,500 – –
Loss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment 1,518 2,436 – –
Loss on disposal of an associate – 9,868 – –
Realised foreign exchange loss 375,832 70,264 – –
Unrealised foreign exchange loss 219,337 77,414 – –
Property, plant and equipment written off 75,976 66,463 208 –
Provision for doubtful debts 676,062 690,591 – –
Rental 654,781 1,008,535 – –

notes to the financial statements
30 June 2008
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7. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Salaries and wages 24,411,650 14,519,580 1,258,517 853,143
Allowances 1,016,753 1,023,203 31,911 35,696
Bonus 1,608,767 825,837 138,695 66,833
Contributions to defined ontribution

plan and social security contributions 2,371,057 2,014,471 181,130 122,102
Overtime 693,769 681,715 – –
Other benefits 530,941 395,346 19,580 13,938

30,632,937 19,460,152 1,629,833 1,091,712

Included in employee benefits expense of the Group and of the Company are Executive Directors'
remuneration amounting to RM1,888,960 (2007: RM1,587,078) and RM423,342 (2007: RM18,500) respectively
as further disclosed in Note 8.

8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Executive directors' remuneration:
Salaries 1,450,500 1,251,000 322,500 –
Allowance 20,500 18,500 20,500 18,500
Bonus 202,428 132,279 37,488 –
Contributions to defined contribution

plan and social security contributions 201,607 171,374 42,854 –

1,875,035 1,573,153 423,342 18,500

Non-executive directors' remuneration:
Allowance 18,500 16,000 18,500 16,000
Fees 163,897 97,063 149,500 90,000

182,397 113,063 168,000 106,000

Total directors' remuneration (Note 38 (b)) 2,057,432 1,686,216 591,342 124,500
Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind 13,925 13,925 – –

Total directors' remuneration including
benefits-in-kind 2,071,357 1,700,141 591,342 124,500
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8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (CONT’D)

The number of directors of the Company whose total remuneration during the financial year fell within the
following bands is analysed below:

Number of directors
2008 2007

Executive directors:

RM350,001 and above 1 –
RM300,001 – RM350,000 1 1
RM250,001 – RM300,000 1 1
RM200,001 – RM250,000 4 4
RM150,001 – RM200,000 – 1

Non-executive directors:

RM50,001-RM100,000 1 –
Below RM50,000 4 5

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Current income tax:
Provision for the year 8,085,673 2,951,994 1,937,379 300,000
Underprovision in prior year 34,422 150,642 6,538 –

8,120,095 3,102,636 1,943,917 300,000

Deferred tax (Note 34):
Relating to origination and reversal

of temporary differences 1,585,418 1,463,306 – (24,000)
Relating to changes in tax rate (165,424) (125,948) – –
Deferred tax recognised in

different tax rate (4,725) (28,893) – –
Overprovision in prior year (49,882) (36,966) – –

1,365,387 1,271,499 – (24,000)

Total income tax expense 9,485,482 4,374,135 1,943,917 276,000

Domestic current income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 26% (2007: 27%) of the estimated
assessable profit for the year. The domestic statutory tax rate will be reduced to 25% from the current
year’s rate of 26%, effective year of assessment 2009. The computation of deferred tax as at 30 June 2008
has reflected these changes.

notes to the financial statements
30 June 2008
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONT'D)

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory income tax rate to
income tax expense at the effective tax rate of the Group and Company is as follows:

2008 2007
Group RM RM

Profit before tax 36,098,874 7,943,031

Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 26% (2007: 27%) 9,385,707 2,144,619
Effect of lower income tax rate at 20% (2007: 20%) (169,081) (198,614)
Different tax rate in other countries (605,782) 210,832
Effect of changes in tax rate on opening balance of deferred tax (165,424) (93,492)
Deferred tax recognised at different tax rate (18,465) (61,349)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,953,128 881,698
Income not subject to tax (675,494) (1,603,787)
Deferred tax assets not recognised during the year 167,978 3,107,409
Utilisation of previously unutilised tax losses (205,489) (82,877)
Utilisation of previously unabsorbed capital allowance (166,136) (43,980)
Underprovision of tax expense in prior year 34,422 150,642
Overprovision of deferred tax in prior year (49,882) (36,966)

Income tax expense for the year 9,485,482 4,374,135

Company
2008 2007
RM RM

Profit before tax 4,876,506 1,794,807

Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 26% (2007: 27%) 1,267,892 484,598
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 690,898 40,402
Income not subject to tax – (223,000)
Utilisation of previously unabsorbed capital allowance (21,411) (26,000)
Underprovision of tax expense in prior year 6,538 –

Income tax expense for the year 1,943,917 276,000
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONT'D)

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Tax savings recognised during the year
arising from:

Utilisation of tax loss brought forward 333,365 2,330,555 – –
Utilisation of unabsorbed capital

allowance 4,253,000 739,700 82,349 26,000
Unutilised tax losses carried forward 17,325,000 19,080,000 – –
Unabsorbed capital allowances carried

forward 29,689,000 28,373,000 – 40,000

Apart from the above, the availability of unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the respective subsidiaries are subject to no substantial changes
in shareholdings of these subsidiaries under the Income Tax Act, 1967 and guidelines issued by the tax
authority.

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
for the year by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2008 2007

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the
the Company for the financial year (RM) 26,292,661 5,052,071

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 182,000,002 182,000,002

Basic earning per share (sen) 14.45 2.78

Diluted earning per share (sen) 14.45 2.78

11. DIVIDENDS

Dividends in respect Dividends recognised
of Year in Year

2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Recognised during the year:
First and final tax exempt dividend

for 2007, on 182,000,002 ordinary shares
(1.0 sen per ordinary share) 1,820,000 – 1,820,000 –

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a first and final dividend in respect of the financial year ended
30 June 2008, of 1.5 sen less 25% tax on 182,000,002 ordinary shares, amounting to a dividend payable of
RM2,047,500 (1.1 sen net per ordinary share) will be proposed for shareholders' approval. The financial
statements for the current financial year do not reflect this proposed dividend. Such dividend, if approved
by the shareholders, will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the financial
year ending 30 June 2009.

notes to the financial statements
30 June 2008
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and Furniture,
Machinery Fittings,

*Land and and Motor Equipment,
Buildings Containers Vessels Vehicles and others Total

Group RM RM RM RM RM RM

At 30 June 2008

Cost
At 1 July 2007 10,520,826 70,485,741 64,722,620 7,679,964 8,154,704 161,563,855
Additions 2,139,551 6,358,620 394,202 499,162 684,900 10,076,435
Transfer 3,621,663 – – – – 3,621,663
Disposals – (1,484,321) (11,161,638) (863,321) (552,716) (14,061,996)
Written off – – – – (195,805) (195,805)

At 30 June 2008 16,282,040 75,360,040 53,955,184 7,315,805 8,091,083 161,004,152

Accumulated
depreciation

At 1 July 2007 938,842 42,561,265 4,287,771 5,883,760 4,202,484 57,874,122
Depreciation charge

for the year (Note 6) 91,333 3,948,456 3,127,988 683,819 901,654 8,753,250
Transfer 495,500 – – – – 495,500
Disposals – (1,412,086) (1,351,788) (864,596) (428,041) (4,056,511)
Written off – – – – (119,829) (119,829)

At 30 June 2008 1,525,675 45,097,635 6,063,971 5,702,983 4,556,268 62,946,532

Net carrying amount 14,756,365 30,262,405 47,891,213 1,612,822 3,534,815 98,057,620

At 30 June 2007

Cost
At 1 July 2006 6,262,031 67,049,274 23,296,058 6,982,526 7,243,971 110,833,860
Additions 4,258,795 4,255,241 41,427,082 836,180 1,146,435 51,923,733
Reclassification – – (520) – 520 –
Transfer – (4,835) – (2,915) (1,825) (9,575)
Written off – (85,334) – – (203,313) (288,647)
Disposals – (728,605) – (135,827) (31,084) (895,516)

At 30 June 2007 10,520,826 70,485,741 64,722,620 7,679,964 8,154,704 161,563,855

Accumulated
depreciation

At 1 July 2006 848,958 39,258,451 1,587,270 5,316,005 3,593,884 50,604,568
Depreciation charge for

the year (Note 6) 89,884 4,046,096 2,700,501 661,739 780,778 8,278,998
Transfer – (967) – (583) (365) (1,915)
Written off – (58,097) – – (164,087) (222,184)
Disposals – (684,218) – (93,401) (7,726) (785,345)

At 30 June 2007 938,842 42,561,265 4,287,771 5,883,760 4,202,484 57,874,122

Net carrying amount 9,581,984 27,924,476 60,434,849 1,796,204 3,952,220 103,689,733
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

*Land and buildings of the Group

Incomplete
Freehold Capital
Land Buildings Expenditure Total
RM RM RM RM

At 30 June 2008

Cost
At 1 July 2007 1,240,000 5,022,031 4,258,795 10,520,826
Additions – 2,135,141 4,410 2,139,551
Transfer – 3,621,663 – 3,621,663

At 30 June 2008 1,240,000 10,778,835 4,263,205 16,282,040

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2007 – 938,842 – 938,842
Depreciation charge for the year – 91,333 – 91,333
Transfer – 495,500 – 495,500

At 30 June 2008 – 1,525,675 – 1,525,675

Net carrying amount 1,240,000 9,253,160 4,263,205 14,756,365

Incomplete
Freehold Capital
Land Buildings Expenditure Total
RM RM RM RM

At 30 June 2007

Cost
At 1 July 2006 1,240,000 5,022,031 – 6,262,031
Additions – – 4,258,795 4,258,795

At 30 June 2007 1,240,000 5,022,031 4,258,795 10,520,826

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2006 – 848,958 – 848,958
Depreciation charge for the year – 89,884 – 89,884

At 30 June 2007 – 938,842 – 938,842

Net carrying amount 1,240,000 4,083,189 4,258,795 9,581,984

notes to the financial statements
30 June 2008
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

Incomplete Furniture,
Land and Capital Motor Fittings and
Building Expenditure Vehicles Equipment Total

Company RM RM RM RM RM

At 30 June 2008

Cost
At 1 July 2007 – 4,263,205 611,667 131,368 5,006,240
Additions 1,072,409 1,056,555 28,232 162,969 2,320,165
Disposals – – – (280) (280)
Transfer 5,319,760 (5,319,760) – – –

At 30 June 2008 6,392,169 – 639,899 294,057 7,326,125

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2007 – – 284,654 21,043 305,697
Depreciation charge for

the year (Note 6) 8,892 – 125,279 27,372 161,543
Disposals – – – (72) (72)

At 30 June 2008 8,892 – 409,933 48,343 467,168

Net carrying amount 6,383,277 – 229,966 245,714 6,858,957

Incomplete Furniture,
Capital Motor Fittings and

Expenditure Vehicles Equipment Total
Company RM RM RM RM

At 30 June 2007

Cost
At 1 July 2006 4,410 535,655 101,838 641,903
Additions 4,258,795 76,012 32,102 4,366,909
Disposals – – (2,572) (2,572)

At 30 June 2007 4,263,205 611,667 131,368 5,006,240

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2006 – 160,787 1,721 162,508
Depreciation charge for the year (Note 6) – 123,867 19,547 143,414
Disposals – – (225) (225)

At 30 June 2007 – 284,654 21,043 305,697

Net carrying amount 4,263,205 327,013 110,325 4,700,543
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT'D)

(a) During the financial year, the Group and the Company acquired property, plant and equipment with an
aggregate cost of RM10,076,435 (2007: RM51,923,733) and RM2,320,165 (2007: RM4,366,909)
respectively of which RM2,427,600 (2007: RM3,663,730) and RM25,000 (2007: RM68,000) were acquired
by means of finance lease arrangements.

(b) Net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment under finance lease arrangements are as
follows:

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Motor vehicles 1,213,826 1,046,720 229,966 327,013
Plant and machinery and equipment 16,401,489 18,298,315 – –

17,615,315 19,345,035 229,966 327,013

(c) The net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment pledged for borrowings as referred to Notes
27 and 28:

Group
2008 2007
RM RM

Buildings 5,326,722 –
Vessels 44,249,548 60,226,051

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

At 1 July 1,015,813 1,033,813 – –
Additions 17,510 – – –
Fair value adjustments (Note 6) (18,047) (18,000) – –

At 30 June 1,015,276 1,015,813 – –

Investment properties with aggregate carrying value of RM1,015,276 (2007: RM1,015,813) are under pledged
for securities for borrowings.

Investment properties comprises a number of commercial properties leased to third parties.

notes to the financial statements
30 June 2008
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14. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

At 1 July 10,339,640 10,768,422 – –
Additions 1,406,637 75,330 – –
Transfer (3,126,163) – – –
Amortisation for the year (Note 6) (192,717) (186,362) – –
Land premium refund – (121,800) – –
Disposal – (195,950) – –

At 30 June 8,427,397 10,339,640 – –

Analysed as:
Long leasehold land 7,491,751 8,496,460 – –
Short leasehold land 935,646 1,843,180 – –

8,427,397 10,339,640 – –

Leasehold land of the Group with an aggregate carrying value of RM8,427,397 (2007: RM10,339,640) are
pledged as securities for borrowings as disclosed in Notes 27 and 28.

15. GOODWILL ON CONSOLIDATION

Group
2008 2007
RM RM

Cost
At 1 July and 30 June 95,213,520 95,213,520

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 July 1,300 –
Amortisation (Note 6) – 1,300
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss (Note 6) 719,487 –

At 30 June 720,787 1,300

Net carrying amount 94,492,733 95,212,220

The recoverable amount is determined based on cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering three years period. The followings describes each key assumptions on which the
management has based on its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing for goodwill:

(i) Budgeted gross margin

The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budgeted before the budgeted year increased for
the expected efficiency improvements.

(ii) Discount rate

The discount rate used are pre-tax and reflect respective risks relating to the industries.
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16. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2008 2007
RM RM

Unquoted shares at cost 164,710,004 164,707,004

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Country Proportion
Name of of of Ownership
Subsidiaries Incorporation Principal Activities Interest

2008 2007
% %

Harbour-Link (M) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Management services and 100 100
("HLM")* investment holding

Eastern Soldar Engineering Malaysia Investment holding, multi-discipline 100 100
& Construction Sdn. Bhd. engineering and procurement
("ESEC")*

Harbour Agencies (Sarawak) Malaysia Shipping and forwarding 100 100
Sdn. Bhd. ("HAS")*

Harbour-Link Navigation Malaysia Investment holding 100 100
Sdn. Bhd. ("HLN")*

Harbour Link Lines Malaysia Port and shipping agency services, 80 80
Sdn. Bhd. ("HLL")* freight forwarder and maritime

services

HLG Resources Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia Investment holding, agriculture 100 70
and property development

HLG Petroleum Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia Investment holding and trading 100 100
in petroleum and petrochemical
products

Harbour Hornbill Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia Ship owning and ship management 80 80

Harbour Ivory Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia Ship owing and ship operator 100 100
services

Subsidiaries of HLM

A.T Dunia (Btu) Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia Forwarding and transportation 100 100

HLG Engineering Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia Consultancy services and provision 100 100
of engineering works

Harbour Services Malaysia Hiring, stevedoring, transportation 100 100
Corporation Sdn. Bhd.* and sales of pallets

Harbour Agencies (Sibu) Malaysia Ship owning and ship management 100 100
Sdn. Bhd.*

notes to the financial statements
30 June 2008
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16. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

Country Proportion
Name of of of Ownership
Subsidiaries Incorporation Principal Activities Interest

2008 2007
% %

Subsidiaries of HLM (cont’d)

Harbour-Link Logistics Malaysia Hiring and transportation 100 100
Sdn. Bhd.*

Progresif Lengkap Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Road safety, training and 100 100
("PL")* consultancy

Harbour Agencies Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia 100 100
Harbour Services (Kuching) Malaysia 100 100

Sdn. Bhd.*
Harbour Services (Miri) Malaysia Dormant 100 100

Sdn. Bhd.*
Harbour-Link Leasing Malaysia 100 100

Sdn. Bhd.*

Subsidiary of PL

Road Safety & Driving Malaysia Dormant 100 100
Malaysia Academy
Sdn. Bhd.*

Subsidiaries of ESEC

ESE Energy Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia Civil engineering and ancillary 100 100
works

Eastern Soldar (Singapore) Singapore Provision of civil, mechanical and 100 100
Pte. Ltd.** engineering works, construction

and procurement

Subsidiary of HAS

Harbour Agencies (Sabah) Malaysia Shipping and forwarding 100 100
Sdn. Bhd.*

Subsidiaries of HLN

Harbour Eagle Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia 100 100
Harbour Challenger Malaysia Ship owning and ship management 100 100

Sdn. Bhd.*
Satun Shipping Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia 100 100
Harbour Gemini Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia 52 52
Harbour-Link Shipping Malaysia Ship chartering and brokerage 100 100

Sdn. Bhd.* services
Harbour-Link Marine Malaysia Ship management and consultancy 100 100

Services Sdn. Bhd.* services

}

}
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16. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

Country Proportion
Name of of of Ownership
Subsidiaries Incorporation Principal Activities Interest

2008 2007
% %

Subsidiaries of HLL

Harbour-Link Lines Malaysia Port agent, ship operator and 70 70
(JB) Sdn. Bhd.* provision of freighting and

marine services

Harbour-Link Lines Malaysia Port agent, ship operator and 60 60
(KCH) Sdn. Bhd.* provision of freighting and

marine services

Harbour-Link Lines Malaysia Port agent, ship operator and 95 95
(KK) Sdn. Bhd.* provision of freighting and

marine services

Harbour-Link Lines Malaysia Port agent, ship operator and 60 60
(PK) Sdn. Bhd.* provision of freighting and

marine services

Harbour Jupiter Malaysia Ship owning and ship operator 100 100
Services Sdn. Bhd.* services

* Audited by Ernst & Young.
** Audited by firms of auditors other than Ernst & Young.

Acquisition of Subsidiary

On 29 February 2008, the Company subscribed 3,000 ordinary shares of RM1 each in HLG Resources
Sdn. Bhd. ("HLGR") for cash consideration of RM3,000. As a result of the subscription, the Company's
shareholding in HLGR increased from existing 7,000 ordinary shares to 10,000 ordinary shares, representing
new total equity of 100% of the enlarged issued and paid-up capital.

The acquisitions was accounted for by way of the purchase method of accounting.

The acquired subsidiaries contributed the following results to the Group:

2008 2007
RM RM

Revenue – 57,162,283
Loss for the year (1,554) (6,760,810)

notes to the financial statements
30 June 2008
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16. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisitions are as follows:

2008 2007
RM RM

Cash and bank balances 13,846 12,537,104

Fair value of net assets 13,846 12,537,104

Less: Minority interest – (2,513,011)

Group's share of net assets 13,846 10,024,093

17. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

Group
2008 2007
RM RM

Unquoted shares in Malaysia, at cost 521,500 276,500
Share of post-acquisition reserves (279,778) (149,774)

241,722 126,726

The details of the associates are as follows:

Country Proportion
Name of of of Ownership
Associates Incorporation Principal Activities Interest

2008 2007
% %

Eastock Resources Malaysia Renting of property 25 25
Sdn. Bhd.*

Harbour Hub Agencies Malaysia Shipping agent 40 40
Sdn. Bhd.**

Harbour Hub Agencies Malaysia Shipping agent 45 45
(Sabah) Sdn. Bhd.**

ZECON-ESEC Engineering Malaysia Contractors of technical and – 49
Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.** professional services to oil and

petroleum industries

Harbour-Link Logistics Malaysia Hiring of equipments and 49 –
(Sabah) Sdn. Bhd. machinery and provision
(" HLLS")* of transportation

* Audited by Ernst & Young.
** Audited by firms of auditors other than Ernst & Young.
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17. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONT’D)

On 3 December 2007, Harbour-Link Logistics Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-owned sub-subsidiary of the Company,
acquired 49% equity interest consists of 245,000 ordinary shares of RM1 each in an associate, Harbour-Link
Logistics (S) Sdn. Bhd. ("HLLS"), a company incorporated in Malaysia and involved in hiring of equipments
and machinery and provision of transportation, for a cash consideration of RM245,000.

On 16 June 2008, Eastern Soldar Engineering & Construction Sdn. Bhd. ("ESEC"), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, had disposed the entire 49 ordinary shares of RM1 each, fully-paid representing the 49%
equity interest in Zecon-Esec Engineering Sdn. Bhd. ("ZECON-ESEC") to Zecon Berhad for a total cash
consideration of RM49.

The summarised financial information of the associates are as follows:

Group
2008 2007
RM RM

Assets and liabilities
Current assets 442,276 221,810
Non-current assets 43,911 9,021

Total assets 486,187 230,831

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities 244,465 104,105

Total liabilities 244,465 104,105

Results
Revenue – 30,678
Loss for the year (129,356) (78,377)

18. INVESTMENT IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY

Group
2008 2007
RM RM

Unquoted shares at cost 650,000 650,000
Share of post-acquisition profit 916,098 372,147

1,566,098 1,022,147

notes to the financial statements
30 June 2008
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18. INVESTMENT IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY (CONT’D)

Details of the jointly controlled entity is as follows:

Country Proportion
Name of of of Ownership
Jointly Controlled Entity Incorporation Principal Activities Interest

2008 2007
% %

A & H Project Services** Malaysia Transportation and crane renting 50 50
Sdn. Bhd.

** Audited by firms of auditors other than Ernst & Young.

The Group's aggregate share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly controlled entity
are as follows:

Group
2008 2007
RM RM

Assets and liabilities
Current assets 479,738 219,634
Non-current assets 806,051 1,396,322

Total assets 1,285,789 1,615,956

Current liabilities 589,020 (268,669)
Non-current liabilities (308,711) (325,140)

Total liabilities 280,309 (593,809)

Results
Revenue 844,262 413,000
Expenses, including finance costs and taxation (340,312) (617,179)
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19. OTHER INVESTMENTS

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Unquoted shares at cost 2,792,445 2,256,025 2,000,000 2,000,000

On 31 July 2007, Harbour-Link Lines Sdn. Bhd. ("HLL") acquired 1,227,000 ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each in
Harbour-Link Lines (HK) Limited ("HLLHK"), a company incorporated in Hong Kong and involved in provision
of shipping agency, freight forwarder and maritime business, for a cash consideration of RM536,420. As a
result of the acquisition, HLL holds an aggregate total of 1,482,000 ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each,
representing 19% equity interest in HLLHK.

20. INVENTORIES

Group
2008 2007
RM RM

Cost
Petrol, diesel and lubricant 1,491,199 1,301,682
Spare parts 352,050 341,659
Consumable store 93,516 53,820

1,936,765 1,697,161

Net realisable value
Pallets 179,905 216,587

2,116,670 1,913,748

21. AMOUNT DUE TO CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT WORKS

Group
2008 2007
RM RM

Construction contract costs incurred to date 31,849,956 40,072,193
Add: Attributable profits 5,687,331 7,093,644

37,537,287 47,165,837

Less: Progress billings (39,690,417) (50,014,317)

Amount due to customers for contract works (2,153,130) (2,848,480)

Retention sums on contracts, included
within trade receivables (Note 22) 5,901,441 5,782,119

notes to the financial statements
30 June 2008
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Group
2008 2007
RM RM

Trade receivables 71,461,420 59,158,025
Retention sums on contracts (Note 21) 5,901,441 5,782,119
Less: Provision for doubtful debts (1,598,182) (1,449,750)

75,764,679 63,490,394

Included in trade receivables are the followings:

Amount due from companies in which certain
shareholders have significant financial interest – 67,577

The Group's normal trade credit term ranges from 90 to 180 days. Other credit terms are assessed and
approved on a case-by-case basis.

23. OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Advance 112,564 32,690 1,000 –
Deposits 1,490,201 1,465,266 153,441 –
Prepayments 1,547,569 2,101,082 – 846
Sundry receivables 5,905,983 2,003,861 884 32,878
Tax recoverable 1,340,046 3,022,180 553,200 583,484

10,396,363 8,625,079 708,525 617,208

Included in other receivables of the Group are amounts due from companies in which certain shareholders
have significant interest amounting to RMNil (2007: RM89). These amount are unsecured, interest free and
have been fully settled as at the date of this report.

24. FIXED DEPOSITS WITH LICENSED BANKS

Group
2008 2007
RM RM

Pledged 944,059 1,111,015
Not pledged (Note 26) 1,400,000 –

2,344,059 1,111,015

The effective weighted average interest rate of deposits at the balance sheet date was 3.00% (2007: 3.83%)
per annum.



74

H
ar
bo

ur
-L

in
k
G
ro
up

B
er
ha

d
|A

nn
ua

l
R

ep
or

t
20

08

25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES/ASSOCIATES

The amounts due from/(to) associates are unsecured, interest free and under no fixed term of repayment
while the amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured, interest charged at 8.00% (2007: 8.00%) per
annum and under no fixed term of repayment.

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following as at the
balance sheet date:

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Cash and bank balances 17,655,797 16,744,592 268,397 107,058
Fixed deposits, not pledged (Note 24) 1,400,000 – – –
Bank overdrafts, secured (Note 28) (544,757) (5,922,891) – –

Total cash and cash equivalents 18,511,040 10,821,701 268,397 107,058

27. TERM LOANS, SECURED

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Repayable within 12 months 8,309,962 14,400,440 632,964 4,479,713
Repayable after 12 months 46,151,912 51,572,666 23,566,688 18,830,245

54,461,874 65,973,106 24,199,652 23,309,958

The term loan facilities are secured by way of legal charges on certain properties, plant and machineries
and vessels belonging to the Group and supported by joint and several guarantees of certain directors of
the Company. The effective weighted average interest rate for the Group at the balance sheet date for these
facilities was 7.11% (2007: 7.95%) per annum.

28. BANK OVERDRAFTS, SECURED

The effective weighted average interest rate for the bank overdrafts of the Group at the balance sheet date
was 8.00% (2007: 8.00%) per annum. These facilities are secured by first legal charge over certain leasehold
lands and buildings of the Group and corporate guarantees by Company and certain subsidiaries.

29. BANKERS' ACCEPTANCE

The effective weighted average interest rate for the bankers' acceptance of the Group at the balance sheet
date was 4.65% (2007: 4.20%) per annum. These facilities of certain subsidiaries are secured by first legal
charge over certain leasehold lands and buildings of the Group and supported by corporate guarantee by
the Company.

notes to the financial statements
30 June 2008
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30. FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Future minimum lease payments:
Not later than 1 year 3,071,304 3,159,925 127,044 117,732
Later than 1 year but not later than

2 years 2,441,674 2,063,754 131,663 117,732
Later than 2 years but not later than

5 years 2,808,989 2,375,896 6,958 122,351

Total future minimum lease payments 8,321,967 7,599,575 265,665 357,815
Less: Future finance charges (925,499) (888,596) (15,978) (29,121)

Present value of finance lease liabilities 7,396,468 6,710,979 249,687 328,694

Analysis of present value of finance
lease liabilities

Not later than 1 year 2,616,591 2,721,379 116,234 102,138
Later than 1 year but not later than

2 years 2,159,698 1,839,386 126,692 108,364
Later than 2 years but not later than

5 years 2,620,179 2,150,214 6,761 118,192

7,396,468 6,710,979 249,687 328,694
Less: Amount due within 12 months (2,616,591) (2,721,379) (116,234) (102,138)

Amount due after 12 months 4,779,877 3,989,600 133,453 226,556

The finance lease liabilities at balance sheet date bore effective interest rate ranging from 2.60% to 8.42%
(2007: 2.60% to 8.42%) per annum.

31. TRADE PAYABLES

Group
2008 2007
RM RM

Included in trade payables are the following:

Amount due to companies in which certain shareholders
have significant financial interest 40,000 302,879

The normal trade credit terms granted to the Group range from 90 to 180 days or such other period as
negotiated with the suppliers.
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32. OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Accruals 9,819,585 7,576,276 583,457 452,283
Deposit received 508,140 5,000 – –
Sundry payables 6,139,869 4,321,762 35,765 47,585

16,467,594 11,903,038 619,222 499,868

Included in other payables of the Group are amounts due from companies in which certain shareholders
have significant interest amounting to RM47,400 (2007: RM1,439).

33. SHARE CAPITAL

Group/Company
Number of Ordinary Shares

of RM1 Each Amount
2008 2007 2008 2007

RM RM

Authorised
At 1 July and 30 June 500,000,000 500,000,000 500,000,000 500,000,000

Issued and fully paid
At 1 July and 30 June 182,000,002 182,000,002 182,000,002 182,000,002

34. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES/(ASSETS)

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RMRM

At 1 July 4,287,644 3,026,600 (43,000) (19,000)
Exchange differences 16,405 (10,455) – –
Recognised in the income statement

(Note 9) 1,365,387 1,271,499 – (24,000)

At 30 June 5,669,436 4,287,644 (43,000) (43,000)

Presented after appropriate offsetting
as follows:

Deferred tax assets (1,520,000) (1,209,748) (43,000) (43,000)
Deferred tax liabilities 7,189,436 5,497,392 – –

5,669,436 4,287,644 (43,000) (43,000)

notes to the financial statements
30 June 2008
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34. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES/(ASSETS) (CONT'D)

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities prior to offseting are as follows:

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Deferred tax assets
Capital allowances and depreciation

differences (1,520,000) (1,209,748) (43,000) (43,000)

Deferred tax liabilities
Capital allowances and depreciation

differences 7,189,436 4,845,600 – –

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised during the year in respect of the following items:

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Unutilised tax losses 3,467,000 8,300,000 – –
Unabsorbed capital allowances 250,800 170,000 – –

3,717,800 8,470,000 – –

The unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances of the Company are available for offsetting
against future taxable profits subject to no substantial change in shareholdings under the Income Tax Act,
1967 and guidelines issued by the tax authority.

35. RETAINED EARNINGS

Prior to the year of assessment 2008, Malaysian companies adopted the full imputation system. In
accordance with the Finance Act, 2007 which was gazetted on 28 December 2007, companies shall not be
entitled to deduct tax on dividend paid, credited or distributed to its shareholders, and such dividends will
be exempted from tax in the hands of the shareholders ("single tier system"). However, there is a
transitional period of six years, expiring on 31 December 2013, to allow companies to pay franked dividends
to their shareholders under limited circumstances. Companies also have an irrevocable option to disregard
the 108 balance and opt to pay dividends under the single tier system. The change in the tax legislation
also provides for the 108 balance to be locked-in as at 31 December 2007 in accordance with Section 39 of
the Finance Act, 2007.

The Company did not elect for the irrevocable option to disregard the 108 balance. Accordingly, during the
transitional period, the Company may utilise the credit in the 108 balance as at 31 December 2007 to
distribute cash dividend payments to ordinary shareholdings as defined under the Finance Act, 2007. As at
30 June 2008, the Company has sufficient credit in the 108 balance to pay franked dividends amounting to
RM1,345,000 out of its retained earnings. If the balance of the retained earnings of RM1,587,000 were to be
distributed as dividends, the Company may distribute such dividends under the single tier system.
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36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, UNSECURED

Group
2008 2007
RM RM

Corporate guarantees given to banks for
credit facilities granted to subsidiaries 97,988,500 89,878,000

37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Capital expenditure
– Approved and contracted for 6,629,700 3,271,000 – 1,071,000

38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group and the
Company had the following transactions with companies in which certain directors have substantial
financial interests during the financial year:

2008 2007
Group RM RM

Income
Sales of services
– Marup Quarry Sdn. Bhd. – 1,300
– Navasco Shipping Sdn. Bhd. 360 14,633
– Sri-Minah Enterprise Sdn Bhd 6,884 –

Expenditure
Purchase of services
– BCM Mortgage Sdn Bhd 394,394 421,533
– Navasco Shipping Sdn Bhd 435,600 769,902
– Sri-Minah Enterprise Sdn Bhd 87,032 46,017

Purchase of parts and tyres
– Kidurong Tyre & Machinery Sdn Bhd 691,333 804,607

notes to the financial statements
30 June 2008
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38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONT’D)

2008 2007
Company RM RM

Transactions with subsidiaries:

Income
Interest income 1,072,313 623,298
Management fee from subsidiaries 840,000 840,000
Rental income 340,000 –

Expenditure
Interest expense 644,353 336,933

The directors are of the opinion that all the transactions above have been entered into in the normal
course of business and have been established on terms and conditions that are not materially different
from those obtainable in transactions with unrelated parties.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Short-term employee benefits 4,050,798 3,129,241 1,031,712 561,595
Post-employment benefits:

Defined contribution plan 443,089 348,072 99,899 52,262

4,493,887 3,477,313 1,131,611 613,857

Included in the total key management personnel are:

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RM RM RM RM

Directors' remuneration (Note 8) 2,057,432 1,686,216 591,342 124,500

39. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Details of significant events are disclosed in Note 16 and Note 17 to the financial statements.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group's financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate financial resources are
available for the Group's business operations whilst managing its interest rate, foreign exchange,
liquidity and credit risks.

(b) Interest Rate Risk

The Group's primary interest rate risk relates to interest-bearing debts, as the Group had no
substantial interest-bearing assets as at 30 June 2008. Information on average interest rates of
financial liabilities are disclosed in their respective notes.

(c) Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group is exposed to transactional currency risk primarily through sales and purchases that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the operations to which they relate.
The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United States Dollars (USD), Singapore Dollars (S$)
and Renminbi (RMB). Foreign exchange exposures in transactional currencies other than functional
currencies of the operating entities are kept to an acceptable level.

(d) Liquidity Risk

The Group manages its debt maturity profile, operating cash flows and the availability of funding so as
to ensure that refinancing, repayment and funding needs are met. As part of its overall liquidity
management, the Group maintains sufficient levels of cash or cash convertible investments to meet its
working capital requirements. In addition, the Group strives to maintain available banking facilities at a
reasonable level to its overall debt position. As far as possible, the Group raises committed funding
from both capital markets and financial institutions and balances its portfolio with some short term
funding so as to achieve overall cost effectiveness.

(e) Credit Risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The Group trades only with
recognised and creditworthy third parties. Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The credit risk of the Group’s non-current investments, arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these financial assets.

notes to the financial statements
30 June 2008
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(f) Fair Values

The aggregate net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities which are not carried at fair
value on the balance sheets of the Group and Company as at the end of the financial year are
represented as follows:

Group Company
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

Note Amount Value Amount Value
RM RM RM RM

At 30 June 2008

Financial assets:

Non current unquoted shares 4,600,265 α 2,000,000 –
Amount due from subsidiaries 25 – – 15,749,431 *
Amount due from associates 25 16,948 * – –

Financial liabilities:

Amount due to subsidiaries 25 – – 7,443,184 *
Term loans, secured 27 54,461,874 46,398,246 24,199,652 20,143,496
Finance lease liabilities 30 7,396,468 6,228,795 249,687 241,455

At 30 June 2007

Financial assets:

Non current unquoted shares 3,404,898 α 2,000,000 –
Amount due from subsidiaries 25 – – 16,567,605 *
Amount due from associates 25 252,332 * – –

Financial liabilities:

Amount due to subsidiaries 25 – – 7,889,918 *
Term loans, secured 27 65,973,106 54,560,925 23,309,958 19,240,112
Finance lease liabilities 30 6,710,979 6,169,022 328,694 312,793
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(f) Fair Values (cont’d)

The nominal/notional amounts and net fair value of financial instruments not recognised in the balance
sheets of the Group as at the end of the financial year are:

Group Company
Nominal/ Net
Notional Fair Carrying Fair

Note Amount Value Amount Value
RM RM RM RM

At 30 June 2008:
Contingent liabilities 36 – – 97,988,500 �

At 30 June 2007:
Contingent liabilities 36 – – 89,878,000 �

α It is not practicable to estimate the fair values of the Group's non-current unquoted shares
because of the lack of quoted market prices and the inability to estimate fair value without
incurring excessive costs.

* It is not practicable to estimate the fair values of amount due from/to related corporations/
subsidiaries due principally to a lack of fixed repayment terms entered into by the parties involved
and without incurring excessive costs.

� It is not practicable to estimate the fair values of contingent liabilities reliably due to the
uncertainties of timing, costs and eventual outcome.

The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair values of the following classes of
financial instruments:

(i) Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables/payables

The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values due to the
relatively short term maturity of these financial instruments.

(ii) Borrowings

The carrying amount of short term borrowings approximates fair value because of the short
maturity period. The fair value of long term borrowings is estimated based on the current rates
available for borrowings with the same maturity profile.

notes to the financial statements
30 June 2008
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41. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Reporting format

The primary segment reporting format is determined to be business segments as the Group’s risks and
rates of return are affected predominantly by differences in the services provided. Secondary
information is reported geographically. The operating businesses are organised and managed
separately according to the nature of the services provided, with each segment representing a strategic
business unit that serves different markets.

(b) Business segments

The Group is organised into three major business segments:

(i) Shipping, forwarding and transportation

(ii) Hiring of plant and machinery

(iii) Engineering contract

Other business segments include investment holding, property rental, road safety and sales of pallets,
none of which are of a sufficient size to be reported separately.

The directors are of the opinion that all inter-segment transactions have been entered into in the
normal course of business and have been established on terms and conditions that are not materially
different from those obtainable in transactions with unrelated parties.

(c) Geographical segments

Sales to external customers disclosed in geographical segments are based on the geographical location
of its customers. The Group’s three business segments operate in three main geographical areas:

(i) Malaysia

(ii) Singapore

(iii) Vietnam
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41. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT'D)

Business Segments

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue, results, assets, liabilities and other
information by business segment:

Shipping,
Forwarding Hiring of

and Plant Engineering
Transportation Machinery Contract Elimination Total

30 June 2008 RM RM RM RM RM

Revenue
External sales 249,115,360 43,333,213 53,042,544 – 345,491,117
Inter-segment sales 38,151,727 5,921,604 – (44,073,331) –

Total revenue 287,267,087 49,254,817 53,042,544 (44,073,331) 345,491,117

Result
Segment results 17,732,395 13,192,444 9,612,543 – 40,537,382

Finance costs (4,365,920) (348,065) (138,519) – (4,852,504)
Share of result of

associates (129,955) – – – (129,955)
Share of result of jointly

controlled entity 543,951 – – – 543,951

Profit before tax 13,780,471 12,844,379 9,474,024 – 36,098,874
Income tax expense (3,374,655) (4,339,483) (1,771,344) – (9,485,482)

Profit for the year 26,613,392

Assets
Segment assets 250,300,941 28,342,175 35,956,871 – 314,599,987
Investment in

associates 241,722 – – – 241,722
Investment in jointly

controlled entity 1,566,098 – – – 1,566,098

Total assets 316,407,807

Liabilities
Segment liabilities 89,077,105 14,890,844 11,043,414 – 115,011,363

Other segment information
Capital expenditures 2,406,693 5,778,588 3,297,791 – 11,483,072
Amortisation 201,609 – – – 201,609
Depreciation 4,873,787 3,528,327 342,244 – 8,744,358

notes to the financial statements
30 June 2008
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41. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT'D)

Shipping,
Forwarding Hiring of

and Plant Engineering
Transportation Machinery Contract Others Elimination Total

30 June 2007 RM RM RM RM RM RM

Revenue
External sales 224,777,592 24,862,469 35,548,433 2,679,870 – 287,868,364
Inter-segment sales 26,690,123 7,561,638 – 840,000 (35,091,761) –

Total revenue 251,467,715 32,424,107 35,548,433 3,519,870 (35,091,761) 287,868,364

Result
Segment results 394,005 8,536,718 4,637,402 (505,379) – 13,062,746

Finance costs (3,008,925) (692,358) 201,621 (1,131,023) – (4,630,685)
Share of result of

associates 96,458 – – – – 96,458
Share of result of

jointly controlled
entity (204,179) – – – – (204,179)

Profit before tax (2,722,641) 7,844,360 4,839,023 (1,636,402) – 8,324,340
Income tax expense (964,994) (2,121,781) (1,050,419) (236,941) – (4,374,135)

Profit for the year 3,950,205

Assets
Segment assets 234,191,987 32,565,487 31,418,469 7,684,396 – 305,860,339
Investment in

associates 126,726 – – – – 126,726
Investment in

jointly controlled
entity 1,022,147 – – – – 1,022,147

Total assets 307,009,212

Liabilities
Segment liabilities 79,276,728 13,209,509 13,867,906 24,138,520 – 130,492,663

Other segment information
Capital expenditures 45,493,892 1,240,729 897,533 4,366,909 – 51,999,063
Amortisation 186,362 – – – – 186,362
Depreciation 4,325,904 3,482,616 315,878 154,600 – 8,278,998
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41. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT'D)

Geographical Segments

Total Revenue
From External Customer

2008 2007
RM RM

Malaysia 303,405,085 274,223,142
Singapore 38,508,263 12,880,258
Vietnam 3,577,769 764,964

Consolidated 345,491,117 287,868,364

notes to the financial statements
30 June 2008
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Authorised Share Capital : RM500,000,000.00 divided into 500,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each

Issued and Paid-Up Capital : RM182,000,002.00 divided into 182,000,002 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each

Class of Shares : Ordinary Shares of RM1.00 each fully paid

Voting Rights : One vote per ordinary share

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
as at 7 October 2008

Size of Holdings No. of Shareholders Total Holdings %

Less than 100 shares 14,709 355,417 0.20
100 – 1,000 shares 2,872 899,345 0.49
1,001 – 10,000 shares 1,316 5,388,338 2.96
10,001 – 100,000 shares 320 10,301,728 5.66
100,001 – below 5% of issued shares 98 77,642,599 42.66
5% and above of issued shares 5 87,412,575 48.03

19,320 182,000,002 100.00

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS
as at 7 October 2008

No. Name Direct Interest Deemed Interest
Shares % Shares %

1. Yong Piaw Soon 10,266,545 5.64 96,412,575 52.97*
2. Wong Siong Seh 5,939,200 3.26 96,412,575 52.97*
3. Toh Guan Seng 2,300,000 1.26 – –
4. Hii Kwong Wui 1,070,000 0.59 – –
5. Lee Seng Chiong 1,028,000 0.56 – –
6. Lau Sii Hin 537,000 0.30 – –
7. Dato’ Mohamed Salleh Bin Bajuri 409,832 0.23 – –

Note

* Deemed interest by virtue of him being substantial shareholder in Enricharvest Sdn. Bhd. & United Joy Sdn.
Bhd.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
as at 7 October 2008

No. Name Direct Interest Deemed Interest
Shares % Shares %

1. Enricharvest Sdn. Bhd. 54,066,475 29.71 – –
2. United Joy Sdn. Bhd. 42,346,100 23.26 – –
3. Yong Piaw Soon 10,266,545 5.64 96,412,575 52.97
4. Wong Siong Seh 5,939,200 3.26 96,412,575 52.97

analysis of shareholdings
as at 7 October 2008
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THIRTY (30) LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
as at 7 October 2008

No. Names No. of Shares held %

1 KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 23,666,100 13.00
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR UNITED JOY SDN. BHD.

2 HLG NOMINEE (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 18,364,700 10.09
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR ENRICHARVEST SDN. BHD.

3 ENRICHARVEST SDN. BHD. 18,250,000 10.03
4 UNITED JOY SDN. BHD. 14,180,000 7.79
5 ENRICHARVEST SDN. BHD. 12,951,775 7.12
6 KENANGA NOMINEES (ASING) SDN. BHD. 6,460,000 3.55

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR STATE FINANCE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
7 CHOO POH LEE 6,050,000 3.32
8 ENRICHARVEST SDN. BHD 4,500,000 2.47
9 UNITED JOY SDN. BHD. 4,500,000 2.47
10 KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 4,263,700 2.34

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR HASIL DIGITAL SDN. BHD.
11 YONG PIAW SOON 3,283,200 1.80
12 TOH GUAN SENG 2,300,000 1.26
13 EB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SENDIRIAN BERHAD 2,300,000 1.26

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR YONG PIAW SOON
14 HDM NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 2,200,000 1.21

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR YONG PIAW SOON
15 HDM NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 2,024,900 1.11

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR WONG SIONG SEH
16 YAP ENG ENG 2,002,500 1.10
17 KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 2,000,000 1.10

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR YONG PIAW SOON
18 KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 1,800,000 0.99

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR HII TOH SING
19 STATE FINANCE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 1,552,700 0.85
20 AIBB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 1,500,000 0.82

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR WONG SIONG SEH
21 KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 1,262,400 0.69

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR WONG SIONG SEH
22 KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 1,117,900 0.61

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR WONG YIIK KUO
23 KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 1,102,500 0.61

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR NGIENG PING CHAI
24 ABB NOMINEE (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 1,089,300 0.60

AFFIN BANK BERHAD
25 HII KWONG WUI 1,070,000 0.59
26 KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 1,043,900 0.57

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR WONG PIK NGIIK
27 HDM NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 945,000 0.52

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR LEE SENG CHIONG
28 KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 910,200 0.50

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR WONG PIK HUNG
29 KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 875,000 0.48

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR LAU CHII HUNG
30 KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 831,700 0.46

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR NGIENG CHUNG LANG

analysis of shareholdings



Net book
value at

Registered Land area/ Approximate 30 June 2008 Date of
Description Owner Tenure Existing use Built-up area age of building (RM'000) acquisition

Shop-lot Units 6-12, Lot 2646 HLGB Leasehold land Office 2,561.7 1 year 5,330 18 August 2006
Parkcity Commerce Square expiring on sq metres
Jalan Tun Ahmad Zaidi 18.02.2057
Bintulu Sarawak

Lot Nos. 17238 & 17239 ESEC Freehold Factory and 10,230.0 14 years 4,937 10 November 1992
Mukim of Rasah office sq metres
District of Seremban
Negeri Sembilan

Lot 3064, Block 26 HLM Leasehold land Workshop, 20,240.0 6 years 2,858 20 February 1998
Kemena Land District expiring on storage sq metres
Bintulu, Sarawak 11.10.2062 area and

warehouse

Lot 19, Industrial Zone 4 HLL Leasehold land Workshop 12,205.8 1 year 1,576 11 July 2005
Kota Kinabalu Industrial Park expiring on and storage sq metres
Jalan Sepanjar 31.12.2098 yard
Kota Kinabalu, Sabah

Lot 566, Block 4 HLM Leasehold land Containers 28,730.0 1 year 1,234 28 January 2004
Muara Tebas Land District expiring on storage sq metres
Kuching, Sarawak 31.12.2036 yard

Lot 4010, Block 26 HLM Leasehold land Workshop, 12,139.0 6 years 820 2 August 2002
Kemena Land District expiring on storage sq metres
Bintulu, Sarawak 24.01.2067 area and

warehouse

Lot 1684, Block 11 HAS Leasehold land Vacant 9,220.0 – 649 2 October 2003
Seduan Land District expiring on Agriculture sq metres
Sibu, Sarawak 03.12.2034 land

Lot 2132 HS(M) Leasehold land Single storey 5,260.0 2 years 631 6 February 2004
Kuala Baram Land District expiring on warehouse sq metres
Miri, Sarawak 05.02.2064 Industrial

building

Lot 3065, Block 26 HLM Leasehold land Workshop, 8,096.0 6 years 552 29 March 2000
Kemena Land District expiring on storage sq metres
Bintulu Sarawak 11.10.2066 area and

warehouse

No. 1, Jalan Kesuma 3/7 ESEC Freehold Vacant 670.9 6 years 512 20 April 1999
Bandar Tasik Kesuma Corner lot sq metres
43700 Beranang three-storey
Selangor shopoffice

Notes:
HLGB – Harbour-Link Group Berhad
ESEC – Eastern Soldar Engineering & Construction Sdn Bhd
HLM – Harbour-Link (M) Sdn Bhd
HLL – Harbour-Link Logistics Sdn Bhd
HAS – Harbour Agencies (Sarawak) Sdn Bhd
HS(M) – Harbour Services (Miri) Sdn Bhd

list of properties
as at 30 June 2008
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Sixth Annual General Meeting ("AGM") of the Company will be held

at Grand Millennium Ballroom 3, ParkCity Everly Hotel, Jalan Tun Razak, 97000 Bintulu, Sarawak on

Tuesday, 25 November 2008 at 10.30 a.m. for the purpose of transacting the following businesses:

AGENDA

1. To consider the Directors’ Report and the Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2008 and
the Auditors’ Report thereon. Please refer to Note A.

2. To approve a first and final dividend of 1.5 sen per ordinary share of RM1.00 each less Malaysian Income Tax
of 25% for the financial year ended 30 June 2008. (Resolution 1)

3. To approve the Directors’ fees for the financial year ended 30 June 2008. (Resolution 2)

4. To re-elect the following Directors retiring in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election:

(i) Yong Piaw Soon (Article 103) (Resolution 3)

(ii) Toh Guan Seng (Article 103) (Resolution 4)

(iii) Dato’ Mohamed Salleh bin Bajuri (Article 103) (Resolution 5)

(iv) Dato Sri Celestine Ujang Anak Jilan (Article 109) (Resolution 6)

5. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as Auditors of the Company to hold office until the conclusion of the next
AGM and to authorise the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration. (Resolution 7)

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider, and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions:

6. ORDINARY RESOLUTION
AUTHORITY TO ALLOT AND ISSUE SHARES PURSUANT TO SECTION 132D OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1965

“THAT pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965 ("Act") and subject to the approvals of the
relevant governmental and/or regulatory authorities, the Directors be and are hereby empowered to issue
shares in the Company from time to time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the
Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit, provided that the aggregate number of shares issued
pursuant to this resolution does not exceed ten (10) per cent of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of this AGM.

AND THAT the Directors be and are also hereby empowered to obtain the approval from Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad for the listing of and quotation for the additional shares so issued.

AND THAT such authority shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.”
(Resolution 8)

notice of annual general meeting
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7. ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
PROPOSED RENEWAL OF SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A
REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE WITH KIDURONG TYRE & MACHINERY SDN. BHD. AND SRI-MINAH
ENTERPRISE SDN. BHD. (Resolution 9)

PROPOSED RENEWAL OF SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A
REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE WITH NAVASCO SHIPPING SDN. BHD. (Resolution 10)

“THAT the mandate granted by the shareholders of the Company pursuant to paragraph 10.09 of the Bursa
Securities Listing Requirements, authorising the Company and its subsidiaries (“HLG Group”) to enter into the
Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a revenue or trading nature as set out in Sections 2.4.1 & 2.4.2 of the
Circular with the Related Party mentioned therein which are necessary for the HLG Group’s day-to-day
operations, be and is hereby renewed.

That the HLG Group is hereby authorised to enter into the recurrent transactions with the related parties
mentioned therein provided that:

i) the transactions are in the ordinary course of business and are on terms not more favourable to the
Related Parties than those generally available to the public;

ii) disclosure shall be made in the Annual Report, including a breakdown of the aggregate value of the
recurrent transactions made during the financial year, amongst other, based on the following information:

(a) the type of the recurrent transactions made; and

(b) the names of the Related Parties involved in each type of the recurrent transactions made and their
relationship with the Group; and

iii) in a meeting to obtain shareholders’ mandate, the interested Director(s), interested major shareholder(s)
and/or interested person(s) connected and where it involves the interest of an interested person(s)
connected, such Director(s) or major shareholder(s), must not vote on the resolution(s) approving the
transactions. An interested Director or interested major shareholder must ensure that person(s)
connected with him/her abstain from voting on the resolution(s) approving the transactions.

AND THAT such approval shall continue to be in force until:

i) the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company following the forthcoming 6th AGM, at which such
mandate was passed, at which time it will lapse, unless by a resolution passed at such AGM, such
authority is renewed;

ii) the expiration of the period within which the next AGM of the Company subsequent to the date it is
required to be held pursuant to Section 143 (1) of the Act (but shall not extend to such extension as may
be allowed pursuant to Section 143 (2) of the Act); or

iii) revoked or varied by resolution(s) passed by the shareholders in a general meeting;

whichever is the earliest (collectively referred to as "Proposed Renewal of Shareholders' Mandate").

AND THAT the Directors be and are hereby authorised to do all such acts and things and execute all
necessary documents to give full effect to the Proposed Renewal of Shareholders' Mandate with full power to
assent to or make any modifications, variations and/or amendments as may be required by the relevant
authorities."
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NOTICE OF DIVIDEND ENTITLEMENT AND PAYMENT

Subject to the approval of the shareholders, a first and final dividend of 1.5 sen per ordinary share of RM1.00 each
less Malaysian Income Tax of 25% for the financial year ended 30 June 2008 will be paid on 19 December 2008 to
Depositors registered in the Record of Depositors at the close of business at 5.00 p.m. on 28 November 2008.

A depositor shall qualify for entitlement only in respect of:

a) Shares transferred into the Depositor’s Securities Account before 4.00 p.m on 28 November 2008 in respect of
ordinary transfers; and

b) Shares bought on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on a cum entitlement basis according to the Rules of the
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

By Order of the Board

LIM SECK WAH (MAICSA NO. 0799845)
M. CHANDRASEGARAN A/L S. MURUGASU (MAICSA NO. 0781031)
Company Secretaries

Sarawak
Dated: 31 October 2008

Notes:

A. This Agenda item is meant for discussion only as the provision of Section 169 (1) of the Companies Act, 1965 and the
Company’s Articles of Association do not require a formal approval of the shareholders and hence, is not put forward for
voting.

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one (1) or more proxies to attend.
A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and that where a member appoints more than one proxy, the
appointment shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her holdings to be represented by each proxy.

2. Where a member is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, it may
appoint at least one (1) proxy in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to
the credit of the said securities account.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy, in the case of an individual, shall be signed by the appointer or by his attorney duly
authorised in writing, and in the case of a corporation, shall be executed under its Common Seal or under the hand of an
officer or attorney of the corporation duly authorised.

4. The instrument appointing the proxy, with the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed or a
notarially certified or office copy of such power of attorney, must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at
Wisma Harbour, Parkcity Commerce Square, Jalan Tun Ahmad Zaidi, 97000 Bintulu, Sarawak not less than forty-eight (48)
hours before the time set for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

5. Explanatory note on Special Business:

5.1 Ordinary Resolution 8

The effect of the resolution under item 6 of the agenda, if passed, will give the flexibility and authority to the
Directors of the Company, from the date of the forthcoming Sixth AGM, to issue and allot shares in the Company up to
and not exceeding in total 10% of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company for the time being, for such
purposes as they consider would be in the interest of the Company. This authority, unless revoked or varied at a general
meeting, will expire at the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company following the forthcoming 6th AGM.

5.2 Ordinary Resolutions 9 & 10

The proposed resolutions 9 & 10, if passed, will renew the general mandate for the HLG Group to enter into specified
recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature with specified related parties as stated in Section
2.4.1 & 2.4.2 of the Circular and the approval shall continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next AGM of the
Company or revoked or varied by resolution passed in general meeting.

notice of annual general meeting

H
ar
bo

ur
-L

in
k
G
ro
up

B
er
ha

d
|A

nn
ua

l
R

ep
or

t
20

08

92



DIRECTORS STANDING FOR RE-ELECTION

The Directors who are standing for re-election at the Sixth Annual General Meeting of the Company are as follows:

i) Yong Piaw Soon

ii) Toh Guan Seng

iii) Dato’ Mohd Salleh bin Bajuri

iv) Dato Sri Celestine Ujang Anak Jilan

Further details of the above Directors are set out in the Profile of Directors on pages 5 to 7 of this Annual Report
and Statement of Directors’ shareholdings on page 87 of this Annual Report.

statement accompanying
notice of annual general meeting
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This page has been intentionally left blank.



I/We I/C No./Co. No./CDS A/C No.
(Full name in block letters)

of
(Full address)

being a member/members of HARBOUR-LINK GROUP BERHAD hereby appoint the following person(s):

Name of proxy, NRIC No. & Address No. of shares to be represented by proxy

1.

2.

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Sixth Annual
General Meeting of the Company to be held at the Grand Millennium Ballroom 3, ParkCity Everly Hotel, Jalan Tun Razak,
97000 Bintulu, Sarawak on Tuesday, 25 November 2008 at 10.30 a.m. My/our proxy/proxies is to vote as indicated below:

FIRST PROXY SECOND PROXY

FOR AGAINST FOR AGAINST

Ordinary Resolution 1
Ordinary Resolution 2
Ordinary Resolution 3
Ordinary Resolution 4
Ordinary Resolution 5
Ordinary Resolution 6
Ordinary Resolution 7
Ordinary Resolution 8
Ordinary Resolution 9
Ordinary Resolution 10

(Please indicate with a “√” or “X” in the space provided how you wish your vote to be cast. If no instruction as to voting is
given, the proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion. The first named proxy shall be entitled to vote on a
show of hands).

Dated this day of 2008
Signature/Common Seal

Notes:

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one (1) or more proxies to attend. A proxy
may but need not be a member of the Company and that where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointment shall be
invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her holdings to be represented by each proxy.

2. Where a member is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, it may appoint at
least one (1) proxy in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the
said securities account.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy, in the case of an individual, shall be signed by the appointer or by his attorney duly authorised in
writing, and in the case of a corporation, shall be executed under its Common Seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney of the
corporation duly authorised.

4. The instrument appointing the proxy, with the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed or a notarially
certified or office copy of such power of attorney, must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at Wisma Harbour,
Parkcity Commerece Square, Jalan Tun Ahmad Zaidi, 97000 Bintulu, Sarawak not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time set
for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

form of proxy
Before completing this form please refer to the notes below

NO. OF ORDINARY SHARES HELD



Fold along this line (1)

Fold along this line (2)

The Company Secretary
HARBOUR-LINK GROUP BERHAD (592902-D)

Wisma Harbour, Parkcity Commerce Square
Jalan Tun Ahmad Zaidi

97000 Bintulu, Sarawak, Malaysia

Please Affix
30 sen Stamp



branches

Hong Kong, PRC
Tel : (852) 2850 6081
Fax : (852) 2850 6298
E-mail : hongkong@harbour.com.my

Kota Kinabalu
Tel : 088-267 225
Fax : 088-261 225
E-mail : kotakinabalu@harbour.com.my

Kota Kinabalu (Container Liner Services)
Tel : 088-233 691
Fax : 088-232 692
E-mail : hllkk@harbour.com.my

Tawau
Tel : 089-752 311
Fax : 089-752 313
E-mail : tawau@harbour.com.my

Labuan F.T
Tel : 087-431 699
Fax : 087-427 699
E-mail : labuan@harbour.com.my

Kuching
Tel : 082-341 212
Fax :082-341 313
E-mail : kuching@harbour.com.my

Kuching (Container Liner Services)
Tel : 082-349 934
Fax : 082-349 943
E-mail : hllkch@harbour.com.my

Miri
Tel : 085-420 225
Fax : 085-420 270
E-mail : miri@harbour.com.my

Sandakan
Tel : 089-225 561
Fax : 089-225 563
E-mail : sandakan@harbour.com.my

Sibu
Tel : 084-341 558
Fax : 084-341 557
E-mail : sibu@harbour.com.my

Tg. Kidurong, Bintulu
Tel : 086-253 811
Fax : 086-251 676
E-mail : operation.btu@harbour.com.my

Penang
Tel : 04-324 9453
Fax : 04-324 9454
E-mail : penang@harbour.com.my

Seremban
Tel : 06-764 6699
Fax : 06-762 7500
E-mail : esemalhq@tm.net.my

KLIA
Tel : 03-8778 8918
Fax : 03-8778 8912
E-mail : klia@harbour.com.my

Port Klang
Tel : 03-3001 3018
Fax : 03-3166 7013
E-mail : portklang@harbour.com.my

Port Klang (Container Liner Services)
Tel : 03-3345 2822
Fax : 03-3343 9220
E-mail : hllpkg@harbour.com.my

Johor Bahru
Tel : 07-356 2800
Fax : 07-353 2810
E-mail : hllpgu@harbour.com.my


